- Crushed homes, lost lives:

The story of the demolitions in the Sanjay Gandhi National Park
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The lnciiaﬁ ‘P"é{)plé"s Human Righ{s Commission {IPH. 7) conducted an inquiry info the
recent demolitions carried out at the Sanjay Gandhi National Park (SGNP). Since 1997,
there havz been several waves of demolitions, and as pef statements of the forest
department officials, nearly 50,000 famiiies have already been forcibly evicted from the
Park without being provided with any alteruative accommadation. Another 30,000
families whoce homes are still standfg continue to face the threai of immediate and
sudden eviction by the ‘s:taté machinery. Tae significance of these evarts cannot be under-
stated. This is on= of the largest ever demolition conducted in urban’ India and atileast
four persons have died due to alleged brutal actions of the police and demolition squads. .
More than fur lakh people — equivalent io a middie-size township — bave heen rendered

bomeless i vae f2il swoop.

The Commiitee for Protection of Iﬁerﬁu-cmﬂc‘17'i.ghis conducied a ﬁfeliﬁlihély |
inquiry into the goings on at Sanjay Gandhi Mations! Park. This inquiry revealed ihe
brutal manner in which people’s homes and belcengings were destrcyed by the state
machinery in the name of saving the environment and ‘public interest’.

The present inquiry was initiated after organisations such as the Nivara Hakk
Suraksha Samiti (NHSS), Committee for Protection of Democratic Rights (CPDR), and
the residents of Sanjay Gandhi National Park requested IPHRC to set up a Tribunal to
Inquire into the demolitions and police actions. The IPHRC accepted the request.
Consequently, the president of the IPHRC Tribunal and retired judge of the Supreme
Court, Justice V R Krishna Iyer, constituted the Tribunal.

The Tribunal consisted of Justice Pajinder Sachar, former Chief Justice of the
Delhi High Court, Justice S.M. Daud and Justice H. Suresh, former Judges of the
Bombay High Court. They visited several demolition sites on 5th and 6" of August 2000,
and actually observed one demolition operatior at Kandivili. The judges held public

hearings at Kandivili, Mulund, and Malad. The Commission also visited a tribal hamlet
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inside the Sanjay Gandhi National Park (SNGP). The Commission visited the proposed

alternative site at Kgl¥an op 30" /Wg(u?t 2000, The forest officials and represe.ntatxves

et | Coiectiinio ) side. e s sleon asibel o
of the state govern t (3 mv:ted b the Commission to depose before them, which
n’}?ﬂ ,?qu LIRS y b | guﬂfi.ﬁ, ='_..|_'p:‘ Ml €l ..HTFJIJ*P

they did on,: 22" August 2000.
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AV “About 550 resndegts adverselg aftected by the demolmon deposed before the
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Commission. Mr V.P. Singh.. former Prime Minister, Dr Indira Munshi, Profes?or in 'the
< atnes gecilw sl

Department of _Socrology, erersu?' of. Bomba¥ Mr. Gurblr- Singh of Nwara Hakk
e R Hi e

2iMy 110 ity ont oo nonin aisee i a0l aebhoe

Sl}'j@‘,ﬁ?,h? nglt'l? and Mr Vlshal Lad of Shramlk Mukti Andolan, Mr. Satlsh Trlpathy,

sdnd mr Lstoubras aonlom, 10y e wl o0 G 6o 5 cit ol

SecFetary, _Forest De&Mment Go'remment of Maharashtra, and Mr. AR Bharathl Dy
iolormsl ans sois o enaitus [8hnd bagoils of 2ub histh wosil - gozivy s

& onserv.atorpf Forests were some of theiﬁoersons who depo.,ed before the Commlsmon
LT 0td 9vsH - quidenwor osie-slbbin s of mslsviupe - slqose dIsi o i s s

_ . o noowe st one np pes i ord
The following Report is based on these depositions, and reflects wiiat the

Commission heard and saw du $ ng their visits.
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BACKGROUND

The Sanjay Gandhi National Park measures 103.09 sq. kms. The park is divided into
three parts, viz. (i) core area admeasuring 28.18 sg. kms., (ii) tourism zone admeasuring
8.66 sq. kms., and (iii) buffer zone admeasuring 66.25 sa. kms. The park spreads across
the Western suburbs of Goregaon, Malad, Kandivilli and Borivilli, and includes parts of

Mulund and Thane on the East.

The figures of the Forest Department indicate that in 1995 there were between 78,000 to
86,000 huts in the park, i.e. between 3,90,C00 and 4,30,000 people. The Satellite Survey
Report of Space Application Centre, Ahmedabad reflects that 7.73 sq. kms. of the park is
encroached upon. About 1.87 sq. kms of such encroachment is hutments, the remaining

encroachment includes land for quarrying and agriculture.

By Notification dated 4" February 1983, an area of 86.96 sq. kms. was intended to be

declared a ‘National Park’, the final Notification under the Wildlife (Protection) Act



1972, The area supposedly within the National Park contains schools run by the
Corporatior, ration shops, dispensaries; structures having requisite facilitics such as
electricity, water, sanitation and telephone. Many of the hemes are “pucca’ structures
which have been provided with amenities by the concernéd authorities. Mnay of the
resadents structures have been in existence prior to the area belng, declared a “National

Park’. —'

WRIT PETITION NO. 305 OF 1995 FILED BY BEAG BEFORE BOMBAY HIGH
COURT

The Bombay En\}iroﬁménfal Action Group (BEAG); has descrioed itself as a society
‘whose main aims and objects are inter alia, to look after the environment in al] its
aspects’. BEAG filed a petition in public mterest before the Bombay high ‘Court on 8"
February 1995 agamst Mr. AR. Bharati, Dy Conservator of Forest, Mr. AK. ngam
Conservator of Forests, State Wildlife Advisory Board, Bombay Municipal Corporation,
State of Maharashtra, Union of India, Ramchandra Kadam and Ramdas Dharmi Shirke.
Ramchandra Kadam and Ramdas Dharmi Shirke have been_joined as parites as they are
‘some persons who have illegally encroached and created unauthorised structures on

lands belonging to the Sanjay Gandhi Natiopal Park’.

The petition inter alia seeks a direction to the Respondents to forthwith remove
encroachers from the National Park and relocate them in non-forest areas and 1o demalish
and remove all unauthorised structures from within the National Park within a period of
six months, prohibiting the Respondents from taking any steps to regularise the
encroachments and/or unauthorised structures within the National Park, and prohibiting
the Respondents from providing the encroachers any amenities which will serve to

regularise their occupation of all or any areas within the National Park.

This petition alleges that “encroachments into the area of the said National Park have
begun to get larger and larger™ and ‘large areas of the park look like slum colonies” and

the same could have ‘ecologically disastrous ettects’. The petition further states that local



politicians have been encouraging persons to encroach upon these lands with promises of
future regularisation, and slum lords are selling and/or renting out shanties within the

park.

The Conservator of Forests has filed Affidavits which state that,
‘The problem of emr()achmenf on forest areas and the comeguem defore starmn is a
matter of grave complexity involving human, political, social cmd economic ang/e
and cannot be looked at only form the limited point of view of removing such

encroachments en masse, as. is uggested by the Petitioners in the present petition.’

‘...the cathcment areas of Tulsi and Vihar lakes do fall within the SGNP area. So far
there does not appear to be any _Q'a{?gfa{r of water pollution of the two lakes.’
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because of the complexmes mvolvpa' ana zhe human agpect Qf encmacmnent a

-C'

large sumber of people cannot be uprooted overnzght by use of Jorce

It appears that the state machinery bas conducted a physical verification which
denotes that only 1.87 sq. kms. is under actual encroachment by hutments. Out of the
103.09 sq. kms., 66.25 sq. kms. is the buffer zone which surrounds the core zone and
seperates the core zone from the thickly populated area of Bombay Suburban Distict and
Thane city. The Affidavits detail the steps taken by the concerned authorities in the past

to remove the encroachment anc curtail the mushrooming of unauthorised structures.

The court intermittently passed certain directions with regards to construction of a
wall and watch-towers to check the growth of slums within the park, establishment of a
Committee to recommend short term measures for preventing encroachment and

desturction of forest area, etc.

WRIT PETITION NO. 2333 OF 1996 FILED BY OM SHAHI SANGH WELFARE
SOCIETY AND OTHER SLUM SOCIETIES SITUATE AT PIMPRI PADA,
SGNP, BEFORE THE BOMBAY HIGH COURT
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This - ztition was filed by six sium societies on hehalt of 298 residents of Pimori Pada, -
SGNP. 7z people were residing in these slums since 1986, and Ihé_y possessed proof of
residence such as ration cards, voters identity cards, and ‘heir names were included in the
Eiecro al Roll. Tae main demand of the Petitioners was that the Housing Policy of the
State government should be made applicable to slum dwellers residing within the
boundaries of the National Park, and those residing therein prior to 1995 shculd be

proteci=d.

Thig petation was filed against the Bamb.y Musi~inal Corporation, the Collector
of Bombay, the Chief Executive Officer - S, U oMY ~%am " nty, the Stae of

s

Maharashtrs, and Uniog of I 7.

The etition ~tates that
‘The land on which the said hutment sicds previously belongs to F.E.
Dinshaw Trust but in or around 1978 the Third Respondent acquired about
850 hectares of land belonging to F.E. Dinshaw Trust. The F.E. Dinshaw
Trust was z.r)ewm'tt.cza’ to retain and develop the remaining portion of the land
of about 500 hectares. The F E. Dinshaw Trust has constructed buildings on
the plot of land that remained in their possession. The persons mentioned at
Exhibit ‘A’ have constructed their respective structures on the plot of land
acquired by the Third Regpdndent  from F.E. Dinshaw Trust. About six
months ago a wall was constructed around the boundary of Sanjay Gandhi
National Park and the said structures of the_persons mentioned at Fxhibit
‘A’ hereto fall within the wall. The persons residing in the said hutment
settlement belongs to the lower economic strata and the male residents are
employed as labourers or are in public or private service or carry on small
businesses and the women residents work as domestics or do_bousehold
work. The meagre income of the residents of the said settlement are utilised
Jor survival. The residents of the said settlement reside in such manner not

out of choice but for means of livelihood and as they have nowhere else to



reside.”’

The Petitioner has also relied on the International Covenant on Economis Social .and
Cultural Rights, and Resolution on Forced Evictions 1994/12 and 1993/77 adapted by the
UN Commission onn Human Rights whereby the Government of India has committed
itself to provide housing to its people and has condemned the act of:forced evigtionst The

petition states that,

‘the Government of India by signing the said resolutions has portrayed (o the

rest of the world that it recognises *“‘that every woman, man and child has the
" aeright o asecure . ldve dtewhich toilivein peace and dignity,”, and “that the

MM e worst i briag } forjpreventing evictions, resis with ihe Government”.

The Petitioners say that despite the Govezimént of India being & signatory io
the said resoluiions, forced evictions and demolitions are continuously
planned by the State machirery in contravention of the said resolution.’
NP7 g

The petition seeks inter alia to guash the order issued by the Respondents sanctioning
demolition of the structures standing in Sanjay Gandhi National Park and more
particularly those persons mentioned at Exhibit ‘A’ to the petition as bad in law and ultra
vires Articles 14, 21 and 300A of the Constitution of India, direct the respondents to
forthwith stay the demolition of structures belonging to persons mentioned at Exhibit ‘A’
to the petition, and direct the Respondents to provide suitable alternative accommodation

prior to demolishing structures.

The court initially stayed the demolition of structures contained within the park,
but ultimately this petition was disposed of in terms of order dated 7" May 1997 passed
in Writ Petition No. 305 of 2000. Relocation and certain other demands of the slum

dwellers were incorporated in the court’s order.

ORDERS PASSED BY THE BOMBAY HIGH COURT IN WRIT PETITION NO.
305 OF 1995



Relevant portions of orders passed by ihe Bombay High Court which relate to removal of

slum dweliers are summarised below.

Order dated 7° May 1997 passed by Chief Justice M.B. Shab and Justice Mr. F.1.
Rebello

10 (k) The authorities are directed to conduct a survey of the inhabitants of the
National Park Division within 2 period of two months from today. Any person
found to be in pdsSession of a hut for which he himself does r~ have a valid
photo pass fust be evictew forthwith and the <ructure dercolished subject to
clause (¢} hereinaiter. It is further ditected that nc transfer of photo pass

pertaining to structures within the Nationai Park be permitted.”

)] Authorities are directed to prosecute any person refusing to vacate the
forest land under the provisions of the Forest Conservation Act, 1980, Indian
Forest Act, 1977 and Wildlife (Protection) Act, 1972. On carrying on the above
mentioned survey the authorities are directed to forth demolish all occupied huts,
structures found within

the National Park Division. All material shall be confiscated so that thee same i1s

not used tQ re-erect the stictre.

(0) It is ordered that after carrying out the above mentioned survey all
persons whose names are not found in the electoral rolls prepared with

reference to 17 January, 1995 or any date prior thereto shall be forthwith removed
from the National Park Division and structures inhabited by them shall be

demolished. All material shall be confiscated so that the same is not used to re-

erect the structures.

(m) With respect to the slum dwellers residing within the National Park
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Division whose names appear on the. electoral rolls prepared with reference to b
January, 1995 or any date prior thereto and who continue to live in the same
structure, it is directed that the State Government shall within 18 months from
daic, relocate these persons outside the boundaries of the National Park Division,
in keeping with their present policies, and thereafter demolish the st-r_uctljlrc.ts
occupied by them. Until such time electricity and water supply to the structure

will also be allowed to be continued.

e

(n) . The State Goverrmeni shall publish in at least 2 Marathi and 2 Hind:i
Newspapers vith referere (o their intentions of demolishing structures within the
-

diNaiicna! Park Divisios. Such notice.shall state that any person who .is able to

" satis?y the Gaverrmest that, his name appears in the electoral rolls as on 17

January, 1995 or any date ngior. -

thereto and that he centinues to live in the same structure shall be given an
opportunity of six weeks so as to satisfy the Government of the same before

demolishing work progresses.

(q9) BSES and BMC are directed to disconnect all electric and water supply
connections in respect of hutments that will be demolished as per the above

mentioned directions.

(r) The Food & Civil Supplies Department is directed not to issue further
sanctions to any more ration shops in the National Park Division area. All
ration shops, schools and dispensaries presently functioning must be demolished
within eighteen months from today, provided the State Government relocates the

persons covered by clause (0) above.’

A High i.cvel Monitoring Committee was constituted under the Chairmanship of the
Collector, Mumbai Suburban District with the following members -

(1) Deputy Municipal Commissioner, Zone [V,
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(i) | Dc[;uty Municipé! Commissioner, Zone VI,
() ; Deputy Commissioners of Police of the respective Zones,
(w) . DcPL;{y Director (Town Planning) SRA, -+
(v) Additional Col!ec’;ior, Encroazchment,
{vi)  Controller of Slums and Add!l. Collector,

(vii)  Commandant, SRP (to be created),

R )

(viii) Deputy Conser"ator of Forests (Wildlife),
(ix)  Deputy Conservator of Forests, SGNP-Secretary.
The mam function of the Co'nrmttee is to ensure that the forest area is kept free of any

further encroachments and w:l] also make sure that‘this§ érder'is rmplemented.

L S I g
fa ' Fa : e 1

- G N F ! :
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By this ordor snveral otl‘or dlrectlons were passéﬂ" )

(a) BEST to stcp bus services within ‘the NationaF Park Division, except for
educa‘uoral tours and to Kanheri Caves (of on-Mahashivratri days),

(b) Public transpoit such as taxis and ‘autos 16 be prohibited from entering the
forest area,

(c) MTNL to disconnect all telephone lines within the National Park Division,
except those given to_public authorities,

(d) BMC directed not to issue any permissions in the National Park Division for
any commercial or industrial activity, nor to_grant registration under the
Shops & Establishment Act, except in the case of public authorities,

(¢) BMC directed to cancel all such sanctions and registrations and permissions
granted withir the National Park Division,

() Commercial establishments within the National Park Division to be
demolished within one year, and all building matenial to be confiscated so
that the same is not used to re-erect structures,

(g) The staff manning the National Park Division to be increased by 50 persons,

(h) JCB. 4 dumpers, helicopter, and at least one SRP battalion to be made
available for the process of demolition and removal of encroachments from
within the National Park Division, it necessary one more SRP battalion to

be provided,
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(i) Construction of Loundary wall with watch towers to protect the National
"ark Division,

(J) Stopping all quarrying operations within the National Park Division
forthwith and to cancel all permissions and sanctions granted for such

activities.

Order dated 17" July 1999 passed by Chief Justice Mr. Y.X. Sabharwal and Justice
Mr. A.P. Shah

"6, Reverting now @ the proklem of the removal of encroachers, who may be
eligible for aiternate sit+, and their shifting to such site, some apprehension
has been expressed fur re-loention of the encroachers from the local
villagers of Kalyan, thongh the 2ffidavit states that all steps will be taken to
remove the resistanes and to ses that the encroachers are peacefilly re-
located without any inferruption. Learned Advecate-General states that the
Government is duty bound to take all necessary steps to remove the
resistance and it will act accordingly. We have no doubt that the
Government will take all necessary steps to ensure the peaceful relocation of
the large number of encroachers in the Kalyan land earmarked by it for the
said purpose so that the actual process of re-location commences from 1%

February, 2000.

7. In order to ensure compliance of order dated 7" May 1997, we issue the

following further order and directions :-

(a) We hereby constitute a Committee consisting of the fullowing
person:s -
(1) The Collector, Thane District.
(1) The Collector, Bombay Suburban District,
(111) The Additioral Coliector (Encroachments) and

(1v) The Deputy Conservator of forest, Sanjay Gandhi



National Park.

(b) The aforesaid Committee (hereinafter called the Monitoring
Committee) is to monitor and ensure that the slum dwellers
within the Sanjay Gandhi National Park Division, who are eligible
for alternate accommodation, will be re-located on the land identified

in the Affidavit of the Chief Secretary dated 15" July, 1999,

(c) This Monitoring Committee will allot pitches of 15 ft. x 10 fi. to

eligible encroachers in the above mentioned plots.

(d) The Monitoring Committee shall ensure that the structures af the
encroachers within the Sanjay Gandhi national Park Division are
demolished as soon as the aforesaid pitches are allotted in the plots

mentiqnedzbovc.

(e) It shall be the duty of the concerned Authorities under supervision of
the Monitoring Committee, to ensure that the newly allotted sites are
provided with basic amenities such as roads, rainage. electricity,water
supply etc. However, it is clarified that none of the encroahcers shall
be entitled to remain within the National Park after the allotment of

pitches at the new site.

(f) The work of preparation of layout, its approval and actual marking
roads/plots as per layout on site and preparation of estimates etc, as
stipulated in the Order dated 28" April, 1999, will be completed by
30" September, 1999.

(g) The encroachers, as stated in the Affidavit of the Chief Secretary,
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would first be re-located at land in Kalyan. The work of construction
of pitches, roads, civic amenities etc. will be completed by 31

January, 2000.

(h) The vacant MHADA land will be placed at the disposal of the
Government by the end of July, 1999, so that steps as aforesaid, for
making the said land ready for re-location of the remaining may also

be taken without any further delay.”

The High Court directed each family eligible for allotment of an alternative pitch to pay a
sum of Rs. 7,600/~ to the the Dy. Conservator of Forest for carrying out various works at
the alternative site. The schedule for making the payment of the said amount is stated

hereu:nder .-

(i) sum of Rs. 1,000/- on or before 31% August 1999;

(ii) sum of Rs. 2,000/~ on or before 29" October 1999;

(iii) sum of Rs. 2,000/- on or before 28" January 2000; and

(iv) the remaining Rs. 2,000/~ within two weeks of letter informing

- the encroacher about the pitch being available for allotment
The High Court constituted three Committees, viz.,

(i) Grievance Redressal Committee, consisting of two judicial officers,
and Additional Collector (Encroachments) to look into the
grievances of the people with regards to implementation of the
Order.

(i1) A Committee under the Chairmanship of a Retd. High Court Judge
for the purpose of afforestation of the encroached area and
preservatién of the National Park. The others on this Committee to
include, a representative of BEAG and the Dy. Conservator of

Forest.



(iii) Monitoring Committee to ensure compliance of order dated 7" May
1997, and ensure that the shum dwellers within the National Park,
who are eli{giblc for reiocation, will be relocated on the land

identified, and will be alloted pitches of 157 X 10°.
The High Court furhter directed that,

1. MAFCO’s factory which was within the
National Park should be relocated by 28" April,
2001, ‘

2. Demolish fresh constructions in the areas cleared
of encroachments without prior notice, and no
other Court or Tribunal to entertain any
proceedings, In-this behalf.

3. List of eligible encroachers to be displayed in the

office of the Dy. Conservator of Forest.

Order dated 13" March 2000 passed by Acting Chief Justice Mr. N.J. Pandya and

Justice Mrs. Ranjana Desai.

By this Order the period of making payment of the sum for allotment of alternative

pitches was extended to 22"

March 2000, and a “propaganda campaign” was to be carried
out by the Respondents to inform the people that if the said amount was not paid by 22"
March 2000, demolitions would .commence irrespective of the structureholders having

the relevant proof.

One platoon of SRP was placed at the disposal of the Dy. Conservator of Forest, which
was to be increased to two platoons once the demolitions commenced. The services of a

retired army officer was to be availed of to facilitate the entire operation.
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This Order directed the intelligence and police force of the state tc {ind nut about the
antecedents of Mr. P.K. Das who is the convenor of an organisation attempting to

‘throttle” the ‘exercise which is being carried out with the cooperation of both the sides’.

Order dated 14" June 2000 passed by Chief Justice Mr. B.P. Singh and Justice Mr. N.J.
Pandya, extended the date for making payment of the ‘rehab fees’ by two weeks till June
29 Another order in August 2000 passed by Chief Justice Mr. B.P. Singh and Justice
Mr. Radhakrishnan again allowed another two weeks for making the payment for

alternative pitches.
FIRST WAVE OF DEMOLITIONS AFTER THE MAY 7 COURT ORDERS

Days after the May 7% order was passed, on May 20" 1997 a Brihanmumbai Municipal
Corporation (BMC) demolition squad razed the Pimpripada slum colony, in the Malad
East division, though there were several pending cases in respect of whether it was on
forest land at all. After around 200 huts were bulldozed, a fire was noticed on the West of
the slum colony, which the residents said was started by the demolition squad to quicken
the pace of clearing the land. In all, 700 huts were destroyed. About nine months before
this demolition, an attempt was made to demolish this slum by the Forest Department. At
that stage, six of the residents’ societies filed an appeal — Writ Petition No 2333 of 1996 -
before the Bombay High Court seeking protection under the 1995 Government Slum
Policy. Tke Court stayed the demolition and the petition came to be clubbed with the
main BEAG Writ Petition 305 of 1995. Ultimately, both the petitions were disposed off

with the common order as outlined above.

However, despite the stay order in WP 2333/96 and despite the order to
rehabilitate the slum-dwellers within 18 months before demolishing their hutments, .\
Pimpripada slums were destroyed. A contempt petition was filed, in which the Forest
Department took the stand thai it was not responsible for the demolition, though the basti

was on forest land.
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Soon after the monsoon, the Forest Department struck in the first week of October
and demolished over 700 hut on the neighbouring hillside slopes of” Matangarh. This
phase ot demolition was justified by the Forest department on the plea that they were
only demolishing huts that had come up after January 1. 1995, and they were therefore to
be removed as per the May 7 judgement of the Bombay High Court. However, in reality
the heavy duty demolishing equipment like porclain cranes and earth movers could
hardly distinguish between the pre and post 1995 residents, and by an large those
protected under the May 7 order also were felled in the aggressive demolition drive.
Later, when the forest department demolished on November 14, 1997 another 110 huts
which were clearly as a cluster identified as of pre-1995 vintage, the NHSS moved the
High Court. A beach consisting of Justice A C Aggarwal and Justice Vishnu Sahai pulled
up the Forest Department for not providing rehabitation first, and stayed the demolition

of another 166 huts in the area that had been given notice of demolition.

Despite these orders, the Forest Department continued its demolition drive.
Within a month it razed over 2,000 huts covering Appapada, Savitribai Phule Nagar
Ambedkar Nagar and Matangarh — most of whom were _protected by the May 7, 1997
order by reason of having proof of residence prior to 1995. In a bizarre case, the Forest
Department completely demclished on November 22, 1997 a slum colony consisting of
500 families called Azad Nagar, at Kurar Village, Malad (East). Ironically, the slum
consisted mainly of 1$92-93 Muslim riot victims who had been helped by NHSS to
rebuild their houses after they had fled to the neighbouring Muslim locality of
Pathanwadi. These residents had also been provided aid and material from the
government as compensation for houses destroyed! In the demolition operations of
November 22, the residents said the police and demolition _personne! exulted hurling

barbs that a “hasti of criminals” was being destroyed.

The records and oral evidence shows that in these demolition operations, police
violence on the people and their leaders was brutal and excessive. On November 6. when
the Forest Department was demolishing huts situated in Savitribai Phule Nagar. a large

group of persons lead by suspended Deputy Municipal Commissioner G R Khairnar and



a journahist of The Economic Times and secretary of NHSS, Gurbir Singh, went to the
demolition site to protest against the operations. Without warning, two ofticer:

Dhindoshi Police Station — Senior Inspector D S Shinde and Assistant P1 Shivaji Koieka.
— ordered an unprovoked lathi-charge on the protestors. While the bulk of the people
were caned and chased away, Khairnar was surrounded while SRP personnel suirounda:
Gurbir Singh and hammered him with lathis on his back, arm and head. Later X-Rays at
the Bhagwati Hospital and KEM Hospital revealed that Gurbir Singh’s elbow had been
fractured, while there were numerous head injuries. Later, women from the neighbousing
slums in Matangarh protested against this brutal treatment by blocking the path of the
police vans and vehicles. These women too were brutally lathi-charged, and those
interviewed said some of them were dragged out from their houses and beaten. Besides

[ hairnar and Gurbir Singh, around 60 persons were arrested after the police action.

Gurbir Singh subsequently filed a criminal case in the Berivali metropolitan court
against the two police officials — Kolekar and Shinde - for assault causing grevious huit.
In a seperate civil writ petition claiming compensation, Singh has sought_guidelines for
the police for handling public protests. The petition was subsequently admitted in March

1998, and 1s pending final disposal

Meanwhile, in the first week of December 1997, the Forest Department turned its
wrath to the bastis to the North of Malad, in the Kandivili division. There was however
stiff resistance from a slum colony called Gautam Nagar and the police tried to stamp it
out with lathi-charge and teargas. Records show that more than 100 persons had to oe
hospitalized while scores were arrested by the Samata Nagar Police Station, at Kandivili
(East). The same slum colony again faced the demolition squads from December .8.
Again there was stiff resistance and police went on a rampage caning the people and
bursting tear gas shells. In this round, more than 30 person were injured and over 40
arrested for rioting. One Suresh Mahadik suffered serious head injuries and had lost his
speech. State Reserve Police personnel on December 29 went berserk and broke into
peoples houses to cane them as far as one kilometre from the siie of the demolition. FFor

instance, one Kamal Singh Pawar residing in Kedar Nath Chawl, situated about 500
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meters away from the demolition site, was hammered by police lathis while he was cating

his food inside his house.

Even women and children were not spared by the police. For example, Gyanti
Devi Yadav was injured on the head while her six-month old son — Lalikant — was hit on
the head when the police broke open the door of her house in search of male members. In
another incident, Majula Devi Chaudhaury, 35, was seriously injured with a deep_gash on
her back when an exploding canister of tear gas landed on a rice sack inside her house.
The police and Forest officials claimed that they were only demolishing post-1995
hutments, and that the police violence was only a reaction in self-defence to massive
stone-pelting by mobs of slum-dwellers. However, a Nivara Hakk Samiti delegation lead
by Shabana Azmi has filed a report that most of the 600 huts razed on Tuesday December
29, 1997 had proof of existence before January 1, 1995. Further, contrary to police
claims, the violence was not provoked by the people but by the police. According to eye-
witness accounts, on Monday December 28, a large number of women had gathered and
had conducted a dharna around Noon time to plead with the Forest and Police officials to
postpone their eviction activities for ithree months as the children’s mid-term
exanlinations were in progress. This was brushed aside, and the pcople were bruiaily

lathi-charged and tear-gassed to clear the path of the bulldczers and demolition squads.

These demolitions were carried out despite orders of the Bombay High Court
passed on October 9 in a petition filed by the Gautam Nagar Vikas Sangh. The October 9
order required the Forest: Department to give two weeks notice before beginning
demolitions. Subsequently, in a notice of motion in the same petition, when these
demolitions were brought to the notice of a vacation judge during the Christmas break,
Justice ] A Patil, besides ordering status guo, noted that “the greivances made by the
petitioners need an inquiry.” The large-scale protests and the considerable media
coverage of the police action in Gautam Nagar as well as in the other hutment colonies
created significant public outcry. Interestingly, the BJP-Shiv Sena state government with
an eye on the impending Lok Sabha elections, announced a suspension of demolition

operations. The then chief minister Manohar Joshi also announced that the government



19

was withdrawing the police force, and it would not be available tor demolitions in the

National Park.

At this stage, the state government and the forest department made one vain
attempt to rehabilitate the slum dwellers. In December, tollowing repeated protests trom
the evicted families. A 30-acre plot of land acquired from MHADA in Malwani was
developed and marked with pitches to accomodate the first batch of around 3,000
families from Azad Nagar, Matangarh and other demolished bastis in the Malad division.
The forest department even summoned its staft from Nagpur and other regions to help the
process. However, the BEAG took objection in the High Court that the anv rehabilitation
on the designated creek-side land would amount to a violation of the CRZ Regulations.
The Bombay High Court too supported the view and the state government did not press

the case. Thus, ended the first rehab bid of the government.

EVIDENCE
Socio-economic Profile of the residents of Sanjay Gandhi National Park

‘The sample survey conducted by the Commission reflected certain-significant features
about the socio-economic profile of the residents. Males outnumbered the females; this
indicates that the men had left their families in their ancestral villages and had come to
the city to earn a living, or that families were sent back to ancestral villages due to
apprehension of demolition and as they had nowhere else to reside in Mumbai. About
61% of the people were in the age group of 21 — 40 yeais, about 31% of the people were
in the age group of 41 — 60 years, and 8% were above 60 years. This indicates that the
residents constituted a predominantly working population. In 56% of the structures five
persons or less resided; in the remaining structures more than five persons resided. About
30% of the residents were residing in the National Park for more than 20 years, 40%

between 20 — 10 years; 30% between 6 — 10 vears.
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(a) Means of livelihood

Majority of the people said they had come to Mumbai in search of work and to
support their tamilies. People were working as dhobis, rag-pickers, autorickshaw
and BEST bus drivers, jewellery makers, cobblers, vegetable vendors, watchman,
wardboy with ESIS Hospital, MMC and Aarey employees, and had small
businesses, such as ironing clothes and hawking wares. Approximately 56% of
the people were daily wage earners, they did odd_jobs or worked for contractors;
21% were masons, carpenters, plumbers, tailors, drivers; 12% were in the service

sector; 7% were domestic workers — only 3% of the residents were unemployed.
Ms. Meena Radheram Nautiyal stated Lefore the Commission,
‘We resided at Pawan Chawl, Gautam Nagar. My father had a
business of selling sand. Our home and shop has been
demolished in 1998. Now my father drives an autorickshaw to

support the family .

Meene is 21 years of age, and studying to be a pre-primary teacher.

(") Reasons for coming to Mumbai

People have come to reside in Sanjay Gandhi National Park due to diverse
reasons. The main reason was earning of livelihood, but there were other reasons

which were out of their control and had compelled them to come to Mumbai.
Mr. Shivram Sakharam Suryavanshi is a resident of Bhim Nagar. He came to
Mumbai in 1993 from Khillari as his village was devastated during the earthquake

which ravaged Osmanabad and Latur districts in 1993,

Mr. Salim Sheikh Khatalsaab came to Bhim Nagar in 1974 from Gulbarga in
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Karnataka as their ancestral land was submerged for the construction of a

TCSEervolr.

Ms. Geeta Rajkumar Vishwakarma has been residing in Damu Nagar, Kandivili,
since last 7 years. She came to Damu Nagar from Santa Cruz (East), her home 1in

Santa Cruz

was burnt during the Hindu-Muslim riots.

Mr. Gorak Shashirao Rakshi came to Mumbai from Jalna as the agricultural land

owned by his family was sold to pay his mother’s medical bills.
[ am residing in Jai bajrang Chawl, Gautam Nagar since the last 15
years. I purchased the stracture for Rs. 3,500 -, and resided there
with my w;'/e and four minor children. I work as a casual labourer
and earn Rs. 1,500 per month. My home was initiaily demolished
in 1998, and again in May'Jure 2000. I now reside in a rented
structure in Hanuman Nagar for which I pay rent of Rs. 700/~ per

month. I did not pay Rs. 7,000/- as I did not have the amount.”’

Many deponents said that they had come from Beed village to Mumbai due to

drought in the Aurangabad region in 1972, and drought in the Jalgaon area.

Certain families owned agricultural land in the village, but the land was insufficient
to feed the expanded family. Others worked as agricultural labourers in their

ancestral villages, and were unable to find work due to drought or the income earned

was insfuﬁ'wient.
(¢) Mode of acquiring residential structure in SGNP
The residents who have been residing in the area since many years have built their

homes on open plots of land. Those who have recently come to the area have

purchased their structures from previous owners, and have converted ‘kuccha
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structures” into “pucca structures’

Ms. Indrani  Bhimlesh Thakur of Sandesh Chawl, Gautam Nagar, Kandivilli
(East) -
purchased her structure in 1994 from the previous owner for a sum of Rs. 40,000/-.
‘On 25" May 2000 the demolition squad visited the area. | was
beaten by a lady police during the demolition. My home was not
demolished as | showed them the receipt for payment made towards

allotment of alternative site.’

Ms. Shraddha Ganpat Kubal, a member of Trimurti Seva Samiti. purchased her
residential structure in Bhim Nagar from a havaldar who was previously residing

there.

Mr. Mallapa Gundappa Matri of Bhim Nagar deposed before the Commission as
follows :-

‘I built my home on an open plot of land about 28 years ago. |

have had to repeatedly pay money to forest officials and policemen

to permit my family to continue staving theie.’

Many of the residents were not aware that they fell within the National Park. Mr.
Dadarao Ganpat Waghmare of Bhim Nagar stated,
' have G resi 1{17% y here sincg 30 vears. z’uiu% o hat my
home el within yay Gandhi National Par Hddenty hyoe-

storied structure was demolished. '

Ketkipada and Dharkhadi is situated on Survey No. 345A, and has been in existence
since the last more than 60 years, About 1,350,000 persons reside there. The area
contains 5 ration shops, 2 municipal schools. 3 BEST sub-stations. telephone lines
and 127 pipe supplying water. Residents ar¢ paying non-agricultural (NA) Tax and

Assessment Tax indicating that the land is designated for ‘agricultural” use and not
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‘forest’ by the revenue department. Certain residents possess 7/12 Extracts in their
names. One of the schools was constructed by MMC in 1996 at a cost of Rs.
25.00,000/-, and about 4,228 students study in this school.

Ms. Kanchan Chandrakant Patode is a resident of Ketkipada. She produced betore the
Commission a Notice dated 18" April 1995 issued under section 44 of the
Maharashtra Land Revenue Code, and permission granted by MMC for
repair/reconstruction of her structure. Ms. Patode claims that the land upon which her

home stands belongs to her and not to the Forest Department.

Brutality of Demolitions

The demolitions were conducted ir the mosi bruial manper and ruthless manner. Bull-

dozers were used to demoiish homes, belongings and documents were destoryed along

with the residential siructures. At the end of the day belongings and construction material

was gathered and burnt by the demolition squad. Lathi-charge and bursting of tear_gas

shells was resorted to if people protested the demclition.

Ms. Indubai Sudan Wawalk is a resident of Bhim Nagar since the last 34 years.

‘I work as a vegetable vendor, and reside in Bhim Nagar with my
husband and two children. One of my children is afflicted with polio.
I came to Mumbai from Vadgaon in Beed district as my home was
submerged for construction of a reservoir. When the demolition
squad came to burn my home, I attempted to save my belongings and
construction material. The police beat me with a wooden lathi and
took me to Samata Nagar Police Station, Kandivili — my finger prints
were taken on record and | was released at 8.00 p.m. | underment

medical treatment at a private dispensary.’
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The old husband of Ms. Subhadhra Dharmaji Shirodhkar was beaten during the
demolition, and her daughter (Chhaya) was arrested and taken to Shambhaji Nagar Police

Station. They reside at Savita Chawl, Bhim Nagar.

Mr. Tijope Shantaram Chavan is a resident of Damu Nagar. His home was recently
demolished , i.e. on 3" August 2000. The police barged into his home, assaulted them
with a lathi, and then demolished their home. The lathi marks and cuts were visible on 5"

August 2000 when Mr. Chavan deposed before the Commission.

Ms. Madhubala Digambar Mudgal of Bhim Nagar told the Commission that the
demolition squad gathered her belongings and set them on fire, the fire was caused with

the kerosene stored in her own home.

Ms. Jaipala Swamy Lingapatti cf Bhim Nacar,
‘My suitcase full of new clothes was thrown into the fire. My home and
belongings were burnt. Three members of my family were beaten by

the demolition squad; my brother Samel was badly beaten.’

the leg and hand of Mr. Pradeep Santharam Chavan was fractured due 1o beating by

police. He is a resident of Bhim Nagar.

Ms. Kamala Ramkumar Khanna resides in Bhim Nagcar, and her hand was ina bandage.
“The demolition squad burnt my home. They beat me and my son. My
son’s leg was tractured and I was badly bruised on my left elbow and

right hand. We received medical treatment at Bhagwati Hospital”

Ms. Radhika Pashamiya Sayyed is a resident of Bhim Nagar and a member of Jan Seva
Vikas mandal;
‘No notice was given. Bulldozers were used and our belongings were
destroyed. Belongings and construction material was collected and

burnt. My husband, myself and our children were beaten with lathis.~
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Statement of Mr Vishnu T Sawant, Principal of Chandrabhaga Vidva Mandir
School, Pimpripada, Malad (East), Mumbai 400 097:

He is the founder and Chairman of the Chandrabhaga Vidya Mandir School. This is a
Marathi medium school, which started in June 1990. It has classes from Kg. To 10 Std. It
has 1,000 students post demolitions. Prior to the demolitions there were 1.400 students. A
total of 12 classrooms (Size20x25) were demolished. All the things namely benches,
desks, cupboards, library instruments, office chairs, Tables, Sports equipment and library
books were ail destroved. The management was not given any time for removing these
precious and expensive articles. No notice was served giving any prior warning for the

demolitions. The entrance boundary wall to the school was also demolished.

According to Mr. Sawant the land for the Schooi originally belonged to the F
E.Dinshaw Trust. This Land was in the name of a few adivasis from whom the school
purchased the same. The school has Survey papers from the Land survey Dept. to prove
the legality of its ownership. Besides the entire school comes under Survey No. 269 —
Section No.6 and none of the land under Survey No.269 comes under the forests. So
where is the question of illegal encroachments on forest land? Currently. 300 children are
studying in the open after the demolitions, as there aren’t enough classrooms to

accommodate them.

Mr. Sawant claims that this is the only Marathi medium school in the locality, which
caters 12 the education of the poorest sections of society namely the Dalits — the SC’s, the
SC’s and the OBC’s. There is no other Marathi medium school in a radius of 3 Kms of
Pimpripada. Inspite of being a private school and not haviﬁg accessed any Govt. grants
the education is provided at subsidized rates. The students only pay Rs.40/- a month.
Those who can’t pay the fees (and the numbers are as high as 25%) are helped by
Way of donations from ‘Lions Club of Gokuldham’ and an NGO called ‘Casplan’.
According to MR, Sawant this is a private school and yet is running at a loss. The total

revenue generated 1s approx. Rs40, 000/- per month as againsi a total expenditure of
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Rs 1, 00,000/- a month. fie says children who study at the school come from various
areas which includes Sanjaynagar, Shivajinagar, Indiranagar, Mavdenagar, Santoshnagar,
Khadakpada, Pimpripada 1 &2, Arun Kumar Vaidya Marg, Vageshwariagar, Matangad,
Ekta Chawl Committee, Dr. Ambedkar Nagar and Vamaripada. The only Marathi
medium school in close vicinity is at Goregaon Stn. (Nandadeep School-upto 10th std.)
which is 3-4 kms away from here and another one is at Shantaram Talao (Municipal

School uptoVII Std.)

He speaks indignantly about the high-handedness and the arrogance of the forest
officials and the Police. 1000’s of police officers and 100’s of vans and_jeeps had arrived
to assist the forest guards in their demolition efforts. “It was an extremely terrifying
scene” avers Mr. Sawant. He says emphatically, “Politicians along with builder lobbies,
pseudo environment groups and other goonda eciements are responsible for these
demolitions. The builders keeping the environment_groups at the forefront petitioned the
“aets to demolish the homes of the underprivileged and these poor people have become
the helpless and hapless victims in this entire drama as their (that of the builders) high
rise buildings in close vicinity don’t sell as they overiook the slums. He cites the example

Jaientine Towers” made by Salim builders, which is unable to find customers.
"Tikekar’ builders is another such example. ‘Raheja’ builders want to acquire the land in

the adjoining areas so that he can make access roads and other conveniences that will add

.o the market value of his apartments.

“These very environmental groups do not oppose the building projects of the
Rahejas, which is of a much larger size and therefore is a bigger threat to the existence of
the lake. Further the quarrying activity of the Rahejas also goes unnoticed although
it 1s happening everyday in broad daylight. So it all boils down to how powertul and

influential you are in sateguarding your interests,” concludes Mr. Sawant in disgust.

Deaths during demolition in Sanjay Gandhi National Park



Mrs. Shashikala Swamirath Gupta died due to injury sustained during the demolition.
Shashikala resided in a rented room at Savitribai Phule Nagar, Appapada, Malad (E)
along with her husband Swaminath. The demolition squad visited Savitribai Phule Nagar

on 26

April 2000 at about 12.00 noon. Shashikala was packing her belongings to save
them from the wrath of the demolition squad when the bulldozer bulldozed her home; the
bulldozer injured her forehead, she was covered with bleod and fell unconcious.
Shashikala’s ncighbours took her to a private doctor for treatment. Shashikala’s condition
was not good, she was in pain and could barely walk. Her husband carried her to the
doctor for dressing on 27" and 28" December. On 28" December she collapsed and was
taken to the S K. Patii Hosprital where her husband was told that her condition was
serious and she should be admitted to K.E.M. Hospital. Shashikala was unconcious and
was frothing at the mouth. Shashikala was admitted to K.E.M. Hospital at 5.30 p.m. on
the same day. K.E M. Hospital did not bave C.T. Scan facilities so her husband took
Shashikaia by ambulance to L. T.M.G. Hospiial for a C.T. Scan. Shashikala died on 29
Decmber 2000 at K.E.M. Hospital. The Post Mortem was conducted at K.E.M. Hospital
o 30 Apri! 20000 The Memorandum of Post Momiom denotes the probable cause of
Jeath as “Traumatic fracture spine at C6 — C7 level with cord compression associated

with brain stem haemhorrage”. Mr. Swaminath Gupta, the husband of Shashikala

deposed before the Commission.

Mrs. Asha Sunil Pande died due to bursting of tear gas shell during the demolition. Asha
resided at Hanuman Nagar, Damu Nagar, Kandivilli (E) along with her husabnd and three
minor children aged between 15 years and 6 years. On 23™ July 2006 the demolition
squad along with six bulldozers visited Damu Nagar at about 11.00 a.m. The people
peacefully protested the demolition as many of them had the relevant proof to denote that
they had been residing there since prior to 1.1.1995 and had also paid Rs. 7,000/~ for
allottment of an alternative site. The demolition squad which consisted of forest officials
and police personnel, resorted to a lathi-charge and burst tear gas shells. The demolition
squad set structures on fire. Asha’s strucure was also torched. The demolition squad burst
a tear gas shell right in front of Asha, the smoke got into Asha’s face and she fell

unconcious. The demolition squad permitted Asha’s mother to take her to hospital only
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after two hours. Asha died prior to admission at Saibaba Hospital, Kandivilhi. The Post
Mortem has been conducted at Cooper Hospital, but despite requests her family has not
been previded with a copy of the same. Mrs. Kesarbai Rambhau Makrand, the mother of
Asha who resided in an adjoining structure deposed before the Commission. Mrs.

Kesarbai Makrand’s structure was also torched on 23" July 2000.

Mr. Chandrakant Siddappa Konale died due to police beating during the demolition.
Chandrakant resided with his widowed mother and three brothers at Patel Chawl, Damu
Nagar, Kandivili (E). Chandrakant was married about a year ago. The Konale’s had the
relevant proof of residence. The demolition squad visited Hanuman Nagar on 23™ July
2000 and went on a rampage as stated above. The demolition squad kicked open the
Konale’s residence and hit Malesh, the 14 year old brother of Chandrakant with a lathi.
Then they beat and kicked Chandrakant in his stomach. The police arrested Suresh, the
i7 year old brother of Chandrakant whilst he was returning home. The mother of
Chandrakant ran around to release Suresh from the lock-up. Chandrakant who was in
pain slept the entire day on 24™ July, and was admitted to Bhagwati Hospital on 25™ July.
Chandrakant died at Bhagwati Hospital on the same day. No Post Mortem was
conducted, the Konale’s have not filed a complaint with the police station due to fear.
Chandrakant was 22 years old and worked in a marriage hali, he financiaily supported his
family. Mrs. Mahadevi Siddappa Konhale, the mother of Chandrakant deposed before the

Commission.

Mr. Babu Rathod died due to shock during the demolition. Babu rathod was residing with
his wife at Ambedkar Nagar, Appapada, Malad (E) since the last twelve years. They were
working a domestic workers in nearby homes. On 1 May 2000 the demolition squad
visited Ambedkar Nagar along with bulldozers. The home of Mr. Rahtod was bulldozed
and most of their belongings were destroyed. Mr. Rathod died of shock. A Post Mortem
was conducted at Cooper Hospital but his wife has not been given a copy of the Report.
Mrs. Parvati Babu Rathod, the widow of the late Babu Rathod deposed betore the
Commission. She told the Commission that she was now all alone in Bombay as her son

Raiu had died two years ago in train accident and her duaghters were married in Gujarat.
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Demolition in violation of Court’s order dated 7" May 1997

Demolitions started in Sanjay Gandhi National Park since November 1997. Many of the
residential structures demolished were those having relevant proof of 1.1.1995. Nivara
Hakk Welfare Centre brought this to the notice of the Bombay High Couit in Petition No.
2031 of 1997. The Bombay High Court in its order dated 17" November 1997 stated as
tfollows’
R we reiterate that it will be impermissible for the
government to carry out demolitions in violations of the directions
contained in the aforesaid order. We reiterate that in case of violation

of the order, a serious view of the matier will be taken.’

Demolitions continued and residentiai structures eligibie for allotment of aiternative
pitches were demolished. The dispensary of Nivara Hakk Welfare Centre was demolished
on 6% May 1998 despite paragraph 10 (r) of Order dated 7" May 1997 which protected
dispensaries till relocation of the residents to an alternative site. This was brought to the
notice of the Dy. Conservator of Forest by letter dated 7% May 1998 addressed by

Advocate tor Nivara Hakk Welfare Centre but to no avail.

Large scale demolitions were carried out in January/February 1999 at Kranti Nagar in
Kandivilli, and at Pimpripada, Azad Nagar, Ambedkar Nagar, Jambrosic Nagar in Malad.
Many of the residential structures that were demolished had relevant proof; the forest
officials refused to pay heed to the proof. The debris was thrown into a well which was
the drinking water source for Azad Nagar. Nivara Hakk Welfare Centre has filed a
centempt petition with regards to the highhanded conduct of the Dy Conservator of

Forest, this petition is pending before the Bombay High Court.

This repeated demolitions have resulted in many families having the relevant proof being
rendered homeless, and destitute. Mr. Maruti Bhaguji Vavalkar of Bhim Nagar,

‘My family never expected that our home would be demolished as we
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have all the documents to prove our residence. The demolition was a

shock.’

Ms. Mewati Devi Yadav resides in Pimpripada, her home was demolished once and burnt

twice, she has spent Rs. 1,000/- each time to rebuild her home with plastic.

The morc than 50,000 families who are ‘not cligible’ have left the area without any
alternative accommodation being provided. Ms. Padma Digambar Wankhede of Bhim
Nagar told the Commission the follcwing;
‘Many persons who did not have the relevant proof have left the area
after demolitions. They were told that they were not eligible for
alternative accommodation, and therefore left during the monsoon as

they had no roof over their heads.”

Alternative Site

ration
“andein five villages have been identified for relocation. These villages are Khoni,
cwnira, Shirdhon, Wadhavli Khurd and ghesar in Kalyar taluka. Feur of these villages
vere in the Green Zone in the Regional Plan and require to be coaverted to Residential
Zone. Ghesar is situated within Kalyan Municipal Corporation — there is stiff resistance
from the locals and the Kalyan Municipal Corporation to relocation in Ghesar.The
Learned Advocate General made a staiement before the Bombay High Court that the

government was “duty-bound to take all necessary steps to remove the resistance’.

Those whose homes have been demolished are continuing to reside wn the National Park
under plastic shects or are residing with relatives or have rented structures in the vicinity

a5 the relocations site has not been developed.



Payment for allotmcat of alternative pitch
The slum dwellers are to be provided with a pitch admeasuring 10°X15” in Kalyan for
which they are required to pay a sum of Rs. 7,000/-. Many of the people do v have the

financial means to pay the said amount, and due to poverty are being rendered homeless.

Mr. Gorak Shashirao Rakshi stated before the Commission that he had been rendered
homeless despite having the relevant documents. He did not pay the amount as he did not
have Rs. 7.000/-. e said that he is willing to borrow the money and pay it 1f the ime for

making payment is extended.

Ms kamal Sudhakar Khandagale resides in Jai Bhavani Chawl, Bhim Nagar,
‘My home was surveyed and numbered as eligible by the forest
offcials. Our family income is Rs. 3,000/; per month and there are
{1ve mouths to feed so we were unable 1o pay Rs. 7,000/~ My
home was demoiished in May 2000 and burnt 15 days ago.”
The income levels varied - 22% of the residents carned less than Rs. 1,000/-; 50% of the
residents earned between Rs. 1,000/- to Rs. 2,000/-; 8% earned between Rs. 3,000/- to

Rs. 5,000/-; 0.36% earned more than Rs. 5,000/-.

Unwillingness to shift to alternative site
41% of the residents said they would not agree to shift from SGNP, 58% agreed to shift
if they were relocated in the vicinity of SGNP, and 0.73% agreed to shift ot the relocation

site at Kalyan.

The main reason for refusing to shift to Kalyan was that they would be severed from their
means of livelihood as many of them work close by, and it would be uneconomical to
travel to work from Kalyan. People through the years are acquainted with earning
opportunities in the area, e.g., the women have been working as domestic workers in the
neighbourhood and fear that they will not get suitable jobs in the new place, rag-pickers

are familiar with scrap dealers in this area who_give them a good deal.



Another reason is that children’s education will be disturbed; children arc studying in
nearby schools. Sunil Yadav (13 years) resides in Sandesh Chawl, Gautam Nagar, his

father has not admitted him to a school as they apprehend demolition any day.
Boundaries of Sanjay Gandhi National Park

The Bombay High Court has by order dated 17" July 1999 closed the doors on any
dispute with regards to the boundaries of SGNP.
‘In case of any dispute regarding the boundary of Sanjay Gandhi National
Park, it is clarified that the map prepared and survey carried out by the
Forest Department, pursuant to the Order dated 7% May 1997 of this
Court, shall be final.’

Many of the settlements, such as Ketkipada and Dharkhadi claim they do not fall within
the boundaries of SGNP, and have been provided with facilities by the concerned

authorities.

A representation made before the Comm:ssion by representatives of the Janta Dal denote
that the demarcation of the boundary was made only in 1999, and the area was notified as

a National Park under the Wildlife (Protection) Act 1972 by Notification dated 16"
January 1996.

Petitions have been filed by different societies on this aspect, viz. that their settlements

fall outside SGNP, before the Bombay High Court, and the Supreme Court.
DEMANDS OF THE PEOPLE
Conducting of Joint Survey : The residents of SGNP and Nivara Hakk Suraksh

Sammitti have been demanding that a_joint survey be conducted by the forest officials

and the residents so that there is no dispute in future. The survey was conducted in a most



improper manner, many structures having relevant proof were rendered ‘not eligible” and
many areas were not surveyed. The residents have made several oral and written
representations to the Dy. Conservator of Forest in this respect, and requested that their
homes be re-surveyed/surveyed. Requests for a joint survey were made by Nivara Hakk

Suraksha Sammitti since 23" June 1997 but to no effect.

Relocation on periphery of SGNP : Sanjay Gandhi National Park admeasures about 103
sq. kms. Many settlements are situated along the periphery, and large portions of the
periphery are wasted due to quarrying, therefore the relocation should be done along the
periphery in a manner whereby they have no mode of entry into the National Park. A
portion of the periphery should be dereserved to relocate the residents. The area should
be protected from further encroachments. Mr. D.T. Joseph, the then Chief Executive
Officer, Slum Rebhabilitation Auithority had in November 1996 suggested relocation on
periphery, and in had stated the following in a letter addressed to the then Chief
Secretary,
‘Tt would be necessary for Forest Department to agree to the stand
that the eligible slumawellers on forest land would be
accommoc;‘ated on forest land near the periphery so that the
remaining land can be freed from encroachments and handed over

back to the forest Department.’

In the absence of any relocation site for the slum-dwellers, the Nivara Hakk
Suraksha Samiti (NHSS) had submitted to the special High-Power Committee appointed
on February 12, 1997 by the High Court that the wasted quarries on the periphery of the
National Park could be dereserved and used to rehabilitate the people. This would cause
minimum dislocatic;ﬁ, and create a natural boundary preventing further encroachments.
The Committee headed by the Slum Rehabilitation Authority CEO, D T Joseph, noted in
its final recommendations dt March 13, 1997, that

“It would be necessary for the SNGP authorities to consider ideniifying

adequate land ot the rate of 500 tenements_per hectare jrom within its

hounduries and offer it for rehabilitation of these stum-dwellers.”™



34

This proposal created a howl of protest from the environmentalists and BEAG,
who managed to get the court to reject this practical solution. Interestingly, the Court
virtually adopted the consent terms filed by the BEAG and accepted by the Shiv Sena-

BJP government as its final order!

Interestingly, the government by the end of 1998 had still not located any
alternative land for the rehabilitation of the National Park slum-dwellers, and was forced
to accept the view of the D T Joseph committee once again. In an affidavit filed on
November 11, 1998 before the Bomaby High Court by Chief Secretary of the

Government of Maharashtra, Mr P Subramanium, it was pleaded that:

“On scrutiny, it was found that no suitable lands were available to relocate
and resettle about 33,000 families...therefore, it was considered fo see the
possibility of resettlement of the encroachers at the very site encroached upon
them ie. The Sanjay Gandhi National Park...The land which will be required
for resettlement of these 33,000 families would be about 320 acres out of
25,000 acres of the SNGP. The percentage of the area required for
resettlement would be very negligible. It was aisc considered ihat after having
identified the area of resettlement, it will be possible to segregate, restrict and
control these areas used for resettlement, and any further encroachment in the

SNGP could be effectively controlled and checked.” (ltalics ours)

This affidavit was never considered by the court, nor was any order passed on it.
Neither did the state government press it. In the meanwhile, by the process of
enumeration and survey by the Forest Department, the effective number of those
qualifying for rehabilitation was cut by half — from the 78,000/86,000 hutments estimated
by the Satellite Surveys to 33,000 families who passed the January 1, 1995 qualification.
Despite numerous complaints of corruption and arbitrariness, this figure was accepted by

the Bombay High Court without demur. As we will see later, by clever sleight of hand,
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the torest department and the government have been able to knock oft another 20,000

trom this list.

Once the identification of the families eligible tor rehabilitation was complete, the
Forest Department and the police ran amuck in the name of removing post-1995
encroachers. According to the Chief Secretary’s affidavit, as many as 15,000 huts were
felled and 70 acres of land reclaimed by the forest department soon after. the may 1997
order was passed. Beyond the statistics, on the ground it was a pathetic tale of woe for the

urban poor as detailed above.

Relocation in the vicinity : One vain bid was made to relocate the people in the vicinity
of the park. People were willing to shift when land had been identified in Malwani, in
Malad. Malwani is close to their present place of abode. Nivara Hakk Suraksha Sammitti
had assisted the Dy. Conservator of Forest in pfgp;irigg the site plan, and people had been
shown the site and a few of them had been issued tokens. BEAG had taken objection to
this iste on the ground that it violated the Coastai Regulation Zone Notification as it was
marshy land and required reclamation. Nivara Hakk Suraksha Sammitti has identified
vacant land in the vicinity and brought it to the notice of the Chief Secretary, State of
Maharashtra vide letter dated 24" August 1999. A vacant plot admeasuring 96 acres and
32 gunthas, and situated at Survey No. 120, Village Versova, Bombay Suburban District
has been reserved for housing for weaker sections / lower income groups has been
identified for relocation. If the residents are relocated in the vicinity they will not be
severed from their means of livelibood, and. their children can continue with their

education.

Relocation prior to demolition - The orders of the Bombay High Court envisaged
demolition after the slum dwellers eligible for relocation were shifted to the alternative
site. The orders laid down ioo that that basic amenities like schools and amenities would
be dismantled only only after the residents were relocated. Unforunately large scale
demolitions were conducted without the authorities having identified the relocation site,

or before the relocation site was developed and the slum dwellers were shifled thereto.
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Many of those whose structures are demolished have paid the sum of Rs. 7,000/- but are
still forced to live under plastic sheets/with relatives/in rented structures as the relocation
site has not been developed. In direct vioiation of the court orders, the schools and
dispensaries were demolished before the people were relocated. So far, the court has been
indifterent to the violation of its own orders. From the demolition operations, it scems the
priorities have been set by the BEAG. The demand of the people is that the ongoing
demolitions be stopped till the relocation site has been developed, and people are shifted
thercto. The site must be provided with amenities, such as water and electricity supply,

sanitation and drainage facility, transport, health and educational facilities, etc.

Waiver of the amount of payment of Rs. 7,000/-, or payment of the amount by
installments : Due to paucity of funds many of the eligible residents have not paid the
amount of Rs. 7,000/-, and have therefore been rendered “not eligible’. Those families not
able to pay the requisite amount should not be rendered ‘not eligible’; the payment of the
amount should be waived or they should be granted easy installments to enable them to

pay such amount.

Tribals:

There are 53 tribal hamlets in SGNP; 20 of these hamlets fall within Thane district, and
the remaining 33 fall within MMC. The total population of these hamlets is 50,000. The
tribes residing in SGNP are warlis, kokanas, katkaris, malhar kohlis, dhodis and dublas,
and mahadeo kohlis. Tribals have been residing in SGNP since time immemorial, i.e.

prior to the rule of the Moghuls, Marathas, and British.

Ms. Venu Soma Pagi, 70 years of age, a warli resident of Navapada deposed before the
Commission. Ms. Pagi resides in Navapada along with her daughter, son-in-law and two
grand-children. Ms. Pagi said that as tar as she is aware her tamily has been residing in
SGNP since four generations prior to her generation.

Her land was acquired in or about 1973, and they were alloted barren rocky land at
Kuthal. This land was 8 miles [rom the Bazaar, had no amenities such as health and

educational facilities, etc. Her family was tarming at their land in the Sanjay Gandhi
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national Park and used to sell bhaji that used to grow in the forest, eg. kand (roots). Her
tamily returned to SNGP. The forest officials sometimes contfiscate the stuff they have
retreived from the forest. They collect firewood for domestic use, tribals never collect
tresh wood. They only use 'dry wood. They have close affiliation to the forest as their
gods reside therein; they worship Himay, Hirva, Nanadev, Kansari, Waghaya. Tribals eat
off the forest, ie. roots, crab, etc. They no longer carry out any farming activity in the

forest. They have the ability to recognise plants having medicinal qualities.

She said her family does not have the financial capacity to pay Rs
7,000. They have no means of livelihood and survive on forest produce. They do not
want to leave the forest as they depend on the forest for survival. She said that certain
adivasis work in the forest department; a sum of Rs 850 is deducted from their salary for
accomodation in the forest area.
The income levels varied — 22% of the residents earned less than Rs. 1,000/-; .50% of the
residents earned between Rs. 1.000/- to Rs. 2,000/-; 8% earned between Rs. 3,000/- to
Rs. 5,000/-; 0.36% earned more than Rs. 5,000/-.

Ms Mangali Vijay Barav, 45 yrs of age also deposed before the commission. She said
that both her parental and matrimonial home is the SNGP and has been there since time
immemorial. Her family is also cultivating crops and vegetables in the land adjacent to
their home. She said that there is no need for the tribals to go out of the forest as all that is
necessary for their existence is available in the forest. She categorically stated that their
stay in the forest area does not in any way damage or destroy the forest; they do not kill
wild animals or birds for food. The meats they consume come from_goats and poultry
raised by them or fish and crabs caught from the streams. They construct their homes
with bamboo and karvis which is casily available and renewable. In Our hamlet there are
no non-tribals residing. Non-tribals do not like to reside in hamlets and nor do we permit

them to live in hamlets.

Mr Kisan Chander Wartlic, is a resident of Chinchpada and has been employed as a

watchman in the forest department. SNGP has a total permanent staff strength of more
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than 200 including female staffers. Oniy 70 to 75 of the staff are tribals. Occassionally
the forest department requires services of casual labour, but this is mostly brought from
outside and resides under the trees with or without kutcha enclosures. I will not be in a
position to adjust with non-tribals though I have been working with them for long. There
are differences in diet, culture, language, etc. My fellow tribals who are accustomed with
non-tribals will find it even mare difficult to cobabit in_a non-tribal environment In the
forest we have wells and springs which prcvide us with water. The site where Tulsi lake
is situated was acquired by the British from an adivasi lady called Tulsi Thakar. Records
with the revenue and forest department will show several places of tribal origin in SGNP.
The dead amongst us are buried in SGNP. There is burial ground for four to five hamlets.
Though we no temples we have deities everywhere in the forest. Amongst us, Ravana is
revered and his effigy is not burnt. Burning a Ravana effigy is considered is considered
inauspicious. Our main fetivals are Holi and Dassera, and we celebrate the same in a
tribal manner. We speak tribal dialects and perform and perform rituals that are peculiar

to us.

Mr Vithal Govind Lad, of Shramik Mukti Andolan also deposed us. He is Master in
Social Work, and works with Tribals including htose residing in SNGP. He deposed
before the tribunal that every tribal family has a house of its own made of mud and thaich
with Mangalore tiles for the roof. No non-tribal resides in the hamlets. A new home can
be establiéhed in a tribal hamlet only after ascertaining the consensus of the tribal elders.

The tribals raise different types of vegetables and foodgrains for consumption, and they
also collect and pluck forest produce. The forest produce is taken without taking
permission from any authority but in consultation and agreement with fellow tribals. In
about 1973-74, the forest department evicted residents of four hamlets namely Ravana
pada, Keldaya, Manjarvihir, Phanaspada; only the tillers of farms were evicted while
those who depended on forest produce for a livelihood were allowed to stay on. An
attempt was to settle those evicted in Kunthal village, Palghar taluka. As there no
facilities available in Kunthal. 70 families who were evicted returned to the SNGP within

two months.
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It was only {ast year that SNGP tribals were threatened with eviction. Notices were
displayed at certainspots informing the tribal residents that ehey would have to leave their
homes and farms and shift to some place in Kalyan and Ambernath. Mr Vijay Sathe,
Indavni Tulpule and Vivek Pandit wo are activists working with tribals in Thane district
for last 20 years, have informed that the the alternative site is inappropriate for relocation
of tribals. lfthe tribals are allwoed to remain in the SNGP, there is going to be no damage
or destructionof any forest resource. The tribal till vacant lands close to their homes and
grow foodgrains like nachni, jowari, paddy and consume forest produce such as kantul,
takda, sewri, etc. Some part of this forest produce is sold by the tribals to_procure salt, tea
and clothes. Tribals are not known to have sold their homes and land to non-tribals or
even amon{gst themselves. Tribals are not responsible for any offense committed in the

SNGP. On the other hand, they assist the authorities put out forest fires.

1 say it is not possible for tribals to raise the sum of Rs 7,000 to_purchase sites for
their homes. They have just enough to meet their daily needs. The tribals are sent to live
outside the forest, whether in a village, town or metropolitan area will not survive. They

just do not have the ability to survive in non-tribal areas or in new habitations.

Dr Indira Munshi, professor in the department of sociology, Bombay University, has
been working among tribals in Thane district since 1976. She reaffirs what is stated
above. She states that the extraction by the tribals does not adversely affect the ecology.
Tribals are more sensitive to environment protection than urbanites, their needs are
limited and they do not require resources form outside. Technology availbale for
destructioﬁ of natural resources is not availble to them, The Park can co-exist in the
desired manner with the continuance of adivasis residing in hamlets. The Park will gain
considerably with their active involvement and employment as their knowledge and skill
can be utilised for the conservation and maintenance of the forest. It will be very difficult
for the tribals to survive if evicted for forest area. Their eviction is neither necessary nor
desirable. Removing them from a place which can sustain a particular material and
cultural life is absolutely unnecessary. Their knowledge, skills and culture will be

destroyed once removed from the forest. Tribals in Dhanu and other areas of Thane
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district are currentiy engaged in regeneration of forest areas. The adivasis have protected

the forests from timber merchants. The tribals do not have the knowldege and skills 1o

survive ina city, and this will result in a further deterioration of their lives.

FINDINGS OF THE TRIBUNAL:

The BEAG petition and the Bombay High Court orders: ‘
The Writ Petition No 305 of 1995 filed in February 1995, by the Bombay Environmental

Action Group (BEAG) is eloquent about ecological balance. However, a close
examination of the petition will show that the ecological balance which the raves abcut is
unbalanced and misconceived. The very term “ecology” is derived from the Greek word
meaning ‘house’. It refers to the study of the totality of human. beings .and the. .
environment or to the whole or the ‘environmental house’, as it were. Any sensible
definition of ecology must be anthropocentric or human-centered — humans as the center
of, not apart of, a life support system composed of air, water, minerals, soils, plants,
animals an;l micro-organisms, all of which function together to maintaining the whole. It
is in our interest that this ‘house’ should be clean, hygienic and comfortable. But it
should be for all of us, not for few fortunate ones alene. The burden of BEAG’s petition
substantiates that its vision of environment excludes the vasi sections of the population
from its purview. For instance, there were about four iakh people in SGNP. The petition
in effect treated then as dirt, which must be wiped out from the environment house, so
that the rich and the powerful could breathe clean air. This is a dangerous ideology

behind this concept of environment.

The reasons which the petition cites for the emergence and existence of slums are strange
and fraught with false assumptions. Para 3 of the petition says that: “After the election
dates were announced in December 1994 there has been a sudden spurt in the number of
encroachments with the covert and overt encouragement of certain politician parties.”
The people in the slums lead a wretched life. Nobody will come to such places because

some politicians caii them. They come to the city because of an irresistible urge to
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survive and because of the possibility of finding out some means of livelihood in the city.
What drives them to the city is the abject poverty in the hinterlands of India. The petition

characteristically refuses to acknowledge this reality.

Para 17 of the petition states that certain slumlords sell and / or rent out shanties in the
SGNP. There are more than seven million living in the slums of Mumbai. The
unscrupulous elements take advantage of this situation, and make money. They are
worms in a dung hill created by an exploitative society. This society will keep on
generating such worms as long as it exists. The organisations such as the BEAG are
hypocritical and dishonesi when they trace the reality of slums to slumlords. The

slumlords do not create slums; on the contrary. slums create the slumlords.

The media and the opinion makers repeat axiomatically that the pcliticians encourage
slumms because they constitute vote banks, This terminology is intended to deprive the
people in the slums of their humanity. The people in high rise buildings are not called
vote banks. The statistical analysis of the income of SGNP residents_given above
established that they could not acquire any accommodation either on rent or ownership.
The residents left their ancestral villages because they could not make both ends meet,
whereas in Mumbai they could discover or invent some means of livelihood. There are
also reasons such as natural calamities and displacement by so-called development

projects.

The fate of the slum dwellers was sealed by the Order passed by the Bombay High
Court on_7th May, 1997. Prima facie our reaction is that the order is such and can be

considered as fraud on the Court,

The records show that the petition was filed sometime in February, 1995. The
respondents to the petition are Shri A.R. Bharati, Dy Conservator of Forest, Shri A.N.
Nigam, Conservator of Forests (Wildlife), State Wildlife Advisory Board, Bombay
Municipal Corporation, State of' Mahrashtra, Union of India and particularly respondents

7 & 8 one Ramachandra Kadam and on¢c Ramdas Dhami Shirke. The address of these
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two respondents has been kept vague. Kadam is supposed to be part of the Saraswati
Chawl encroachment and Shirke is supposed to be at the Dr Ambedkar Nagar
encroachment, and these twe encroachments are supposed to be in the Borivali National
Park. In the body of tie petition, the petitioner BEAG have stated that respondents 7
& 8 are joined in their individual and representative capacity. During the course of our
inquiry we tried to ascertain identities of these two persons. Nobody could give their
whereabouts. Obvicusly, they have been enjoined just to show that the slum dwellers are

also represented as parties to this petition.

We are informed that these respondents 7 & 8 were not served any writ of summons and
notice by the petitioners. If they were sued in a representative capacity, certainly they do
not represent any of the slum dwellers as they are obviously not leaders or office bearers
of any slum group or association. When a party is included in a suit or in a legal
proceedings in representative cayacity, the petitioner should obtain the order under Order
1, Rule 8 of the Civil Procedure Code. The Court would normally give direction as to
how the or[dmaﬁhQMd,he carried out We have been informed that no such order was
obtained from the Court. There is nothing to indicate that any publication of the
peittioners having filed such a suit _ra_.gainst respondents 7 & 8 in their representative
capacity was issued in any of the newspaper. In cther words, theugh the petition was
filed as against the respondents 7 & 8, fhe slum dwellers were neﬂ-'er informed that they
were being sued in any representative capacity and that any order that is passed would

be binding on them.

We have scrutinised some of the papers that are placed before us that clearly shows that
the order dated 7" May 1997 was passed by way of “Minutes of the Order taken on

record and marked X and following order is passed.”

The appearance list of lawyers also show that nobody had appea?‘ed either on behalf of
respondents 7 & 8 or on behalf of slum dwellers. It was an order between petitioners
and the government. Qur reaction is that the arder dated 7™ May. 1997 is per se not

binding on the slum dwellers at all. Petitioner, having chosen to file the petition against



the slum dwellers, should have taken steps to serve them according to law and then
only they should have obtained an order against the slum dwellers. Petitioners. on the
other hand. joined hands with the government and got an order, in all probability by
misleading the Court, as if’ the representative of respondents 7 & 8 have been served
and they had remained absent. It is in this sense the order is a fraud on the Court
itself. It is equally interesting to note that the basis of the petition appears to be that in
December 1994, there has been a sudden spurt in the number of encroachment with the
overt and covert encouragement of certain political parties. The petition proceeds to
say that 200 hectares of land worth Rs. 1000 cr have been swallowed up by encroachers
and about 50,000 illegal and unauthorised structures existed within the said National

Park.

We find that the entire statement made in para 3 of the petition as false and as much as
the respondent No. 7, Mr AK.Nigam has filed his affidavit reply where he has
categorically deaied this statement. His affidavit dated 7 April, 1995 shows that there
15 nothing on record to indicate that there was a sudden spurt in encroachment in
December, 1994 as alleged by the petitioners. The affidavit further gives some detailed
information which is relevant. Firstly, it says “most of the National Park barring some
areas are free from encroachment”. Secondly, because of the concerted efforts of various
departments and State of Maharashtra, it has been possible to keep most of the areas of
SGNP free form encroachment. However, encroachment problems still exists in a few
patches along the periphery of the eastern and western boundaries of SGNP. Thirdly,
the affidavit refers to a Satellite Survey Report of the Space Application Centre,
Ahmedabad and that the hutment encroachment of 511.8 hectares showed in the said
report includes unauthorised structures existing for a long pericd of time including
Adivast padas. It further says that out of 103.09 sq. kms of the total area, only 7.73 sq.
kms is encroached upon by various types of encroachments including quarrying,

agricultural

The affidavit further says that the State of Maharashtra is planning to do the following in

a phasced manner for the puipose of prevention/removal of encroachments:
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1) Construction of boundary wall in sensitive area of SGNP;
) Demarcation of boundary of SGNP by erecting pucca pillars along the periphery;
ili) Erection of watch tower along the boundary to be manned round the clock to keep

watch over the area;

iv) Provisions of improved roads along the boundary so that patrolling by staff could
be intensified;

v) Improved communications facilities viz. Wirelcss sets/vehicles and strengthening

of staff for protection work.

The affidavit sets out that because of the tremendous magnitude of pressure on land,
which is so scarce in thickly populated urban cities like Mumbai, the problems of
encroachments has to be faced and dealt with despite all efforts made by the

respondents to prevent it from rising.

In view of these statements made in the affidavit, the Court should have felt that nothing
had survived in the petition itself because the very basis of the petition has been
demonstrated by this affidavit to be totaily false. The affidavit of Nigam also shows the
ioial number ol hutments 1n that area was between 78,060 to 86,000 approximately,
which would indicate that the number of people to be affected would be within the

vicinity of 4 to 5 lakhs.

The records show that atter about a year or so, the petitioners had taken out a Notice of
Motion in which the said Mr. Nigam filed an aftidavit some time:in April, 1996. In that
affidavit, he has set out the steps taken for removal/prevention of encroachment from
April, 1995, It particularlv mentions the work of construction of RCC wall along 338
meters of periphery of the park area in Malad has been initiated and the work is
completed in about 200 metres. It also shows that the government has proposed to
construct RCC wall/Chainlink fence to prevent further encroachments in the park area.
This shows that the core areas of National Park have been protected and that there has

been no encroachment in the said area. No hutments are found in the core areas of the
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National Park. Therefore, the entire basis of their petition would not have survived at all
if only the Court had applied its mind to the facts of the case. It is in the light of this
background, and despite the aflidavits filed by Mr Nigam, the conservator of the forests,
the government seems to have changed its attitude overnight and agreed to become

—

parties to the Minutes of the Order passed on 7" May, 1997,

It 1s significant that the slum dwellers were never a party to this order. The order refers to
a report dated 13" March, 19997 furnished by a committee consisting of officers of the
state government constituted pursuant to an order dated 12 February, 1997. There is
nothing indicates that this committee had heard the slum dwellers at any time. The
committee was headed by the Slum Rehabilitation Authority, Mr. D.T. Joseph. The
committee had recommended that it would be necessary for SGNP authorities to consider
identifying adequate land admeasuring 500 hectares from within its boundaries, and offer
it for rehabilitation to these slum dwellers. What Mr Joseph suggested made considerable
sense in is much more practicable in as much as out of 103.09 sq. km of the area of the
SGNP, only 1.87 sq km was under encroachment by hutments. Another 66.25 sq km
surrounds the core zone and separates the core zone from the thickly populated area of
Mumbai suburban district and Thane city. In other words, even if the hutments were to be
removed from the existing areas, they could be accommodated in the buffer zone itself.
It would not have dislocated any lives of lakhs of slum dwellers and would not have
caused such hardship as we have seen today. Unfortunately, the petitioner BEAG rejected
this practical solution and surprisingly *he government agreed to the Minutes of the

Order.

Some of the paragraphs of the Order dated 7" May, 1997 are per se indicative of
violation of right to life which includes right to shelter as defined by the Supreme Court
itself.  If one reads the order it_gives impression as if the encroachments were within
core area of the National Park and that therefore the same should be removed. For
example, para 10b of the order purports to direct bus services only upto the boundary of
the National Park Division and and not to permit bus services or bus routes to either run

through or cnter the National Park Division In fact, the hutment dwellers are not
b .
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concerned with the bus passing through the National Park. The hutments were mostly in
the bufler zone, for example Bhim Nagar, in Kandivili Division, is on the slope of a hill
of ary bus route passing through that area. In para 10 (c) again the order indicates that
buses goir;g on educational tours and to Kanheri Caves should be allowed, which again

shows 1t does not relate to the area where the hutments are situated.

If one looks at the general tenor of the order, the order pertains to structures which are all
within the core area of the National Park and it has nothing to do with the areas situated
outside the core zone. If that is so, the entire demolition of large number of hutments
mostly situated in the buffer zone and outside the core zone of National Park is without
authority of law. It is interesting to see the direction given by High Court under the
Minutes of the Order. One of the directions is to the General Manager, MTNL. He is
directed to forthwith issue seven days notice to all persons having telephone connections
within the boundaries of the National Park Division and to disconnect all such telephone
lines. This presupposes the existence of telephone connections. The order itself
contemplates some period of time for demolition of the slum structures and for the
rehabilitation of the slum dwellers. Yet the Court directs telephone disconnection within
7 days. Telephones are not only instruments of commerce but also very often become

necessary in case of emergency.

The order again proceeds to restrain the Municipal Corporation from giving any
permission for repair or reconstruction of the structures. It directs to conduct a survey of
the inhabitants of the National Park within-a period-of 2 months-from the date of the -
order and any person found to be in possession of a hut for which he does not have a
valid photo pass must be evicted forthwith and the structure demolished. This shows
that people were evicted from their homes without even hearing them and without even
giving them an opportunity to show how they could have resided in that area for several
years and how they could obtain a photo pass. The order further proceeds to direct the
authorities to prosecute the persons refusing to vacate the forest iand under the
provisions of the Forest Conservation Act 1980, Indian Forests Act, 1977 and Wildlite

(Protection) Act, 1972. It sounds so strange that all these acts aie invoked when a visit to
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these hutment areas revealed that there is neither a forest, nor a shrub or bush; needless to

say. that no question of any wild life in this area.

One of the terms of the order is that all persons whose names are not found in the
electoral rolls prepared with reference to 1% January, 1995, or prior that shall be
forthwith removed from the National Park Division and that their structure demolished
and all the materials shall be confiscated. Needless to say that these orders are plainly

violative of basic human rights ot'the people.

The order further contemplates that BSES and BMC disconnect all electric and water
supply connections in respect of hutments that would be demolished as per the order.
The Food and Civil Supplies department is directed not to issue further sanctions to any
more ration shops in this area  All ration shops, schools and dispensaries presently
functioning must be demolished within 18 months from the date of the order. We have
pointed out some parts of the order only to indicate that the order was a convenient tool

to serve the interest of the petitioners and the government

The various orders and judgements passed by the Bombay High Court in this matter were
of a piece with the Petition. The emphasis was not on the four lakh people who inhabited
the SGNP. It was on the battalions of SRP, watch towers, helicopters for surveillance,
and retired army colonels for overall supervision of the demolition. Was it appropriate for
one of the highest judicial bodies in the country to constitute a repressive machinery
against the poorest of the poor? This raises a crucial question. What had predominance -
the implementation of an anti-poor order or the mandate of Article 21 which guarantees
the inviolability of life? It is often said in the media and middle class circles that the
citizens cannot walk on pavements because people stay on them. The people in the slums
urinate and defecate in public and offend the moral susceptibilities of citizens. Slums
adversely affect the prestige of India and so on... The assumption underlying this line of
thought is that those who stay in the slums and on the pavements are not the citizens of
India. This reminds us of the US Supreme Court in the Dred Scott case that stated that the

founders of the United States of America never thought that the Blacks were human
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beings. This judgement triggered off the American Civil War. Probably we are left
behind in history by 150 years.

We would like to indicate particularly the questions of basic human rights involved in
this episode of slum demolition. The most important aspect in this episode is the denial
of the right to shelter to large number of slum dwellers, and it is recorded that neither the
Court nor the government understood the most basic aspect of human rights. We

therefore proposed to set out briefly the following :

Right to Shelter :

Right to shelter has been recognised as a part of Right to life as guaranteed under Article
21 of the Constitution of India. In Francis Coracli Mallia V/s Union Territory of Delhi
(A.LR. 1981 8C 746), The Supreme Court had observed “We think that the right 1o .. fe
includes the right to live with human dignity and all that goes with it, namely the bare

necessities of life such as adequate nutrition, clothing and shelter over the head.”

In Shantistar Builders v/s N.K. Totami A.LR. 1990 8C630, the Supreme Court said
“Basic needs of man have traditionally been accepted to he three — food, clothing and
shelter ... The difference between the need of an animal and a human being for shelter
has to be kept in view. For the animal it is the bare protection of the body, for a human
being it has to be a suitable accommodation”. 1t is unfortunate that the High Court
ignored these binding observations of the Supreme Court when it denied the right to
shelter to the occupants of over 80,000 structures all situated much outside the core areas

of the Sanjay Gandhi National Park.

Internationally, with the adoption of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights in 1948,
the right to housing joined the body of international, universally applicable and
universally accepted human rights law. Article 25.1 of the Universal Declaration of
Human Rights proclaims: “Everyone has the right 10 a standard of living adequate for
the health and well-being of himself and of his family, including food, clothing, housing

and medical care and necessary social services....”. The International Covenant on
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Economic, Social and Cultural Rights 1966, which India has signed and ratified,
‘expressly says (Art 11.1): “The States Parties to the present Covenant recognise the right
of everyone to an adequate standard of living for himself and his family, including
adequate food, clothing and housing and to the continwous improvment of living
conditions. The States Parties will take appropriate steps to insure realisation of this
right " . Under Art. 51 of the Constitution of India, the State has a duty to foster
respect for international law and treaty obligations. Under Art. 2.1 of the Covenant says:
“Each State Party to the_present Covenent undertakes to take steps, individually and
through international assistance and co-operation, espeially economic and technical, to
the maximum of its available resources, with a view to achieving progressively the full
realisation of the rights recognised in the present Covenant by all appropriate means,
including Farticulqr!y the adoption of legislative measures.” The term “by il
appropriate means” has been broadly inerpreted to include all legislative, administrative,
judicial, economic and social measures. It is regretted that both the state and the
judiciary failed in these obligations and thus acted in violation of both national and

international human rights law.

Forced evictions, a violation of human rights:

The jurisprudence of various International human rights instruments reflects the position
that forced evictions constitute a violation of a broad range of human rights. The practice
of forced eviction constitutes a_gross violation of human rights, in particular the right to

adequate housing. (Commission on Human rights Resolution (U.N.) 1993/77).

When forced evictions take place apart from the right to adequate housing, a number of
other rights are affected. Forced evictions dismantle what people have built over
months, years and sometimes decades, destroying the livelihood, culture community,
families and their neighbourhood . It violates the rights to freedom of movement, the
rights to the security of person, the rights to life, to freedom of expression. When
children are unable to attend school due to forced eviction, the right to education is

sacrificed. When people lose their source of employment, the right to work is breached.
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That is why U.N. Commission on Human Rights passed a resolution 1993/77 on ' h
March, 1993, affirming that the practice of forced evictions constitutes a gross violation
of human rights. The Resolution urges all Governments to confer legal tenure to all
persons th'reatened with forced eviction and to adopt “all necessary measures giving
Sfull proteciton against forced evictions based upon effective participation, consultation,
and negotiation with affected persons or groups”. 1t further recommends “that all
governments provide immediate restitution, compensation, and/or land, consistent with
their wishes or needs, to persons and communities which have been forcibly evicted,

Sfollowing mutually satisfactory negotiations with the affected persons or groups.”

One of the important principles to be observed by the State and the Governmnet is that
evictions should not result in inviduals being rendered homeless or vulnerable to the

violation of other human rights.

We regret to say that all these rights and salient principles were wholly ignored by the
High Court and the Government resulting in patent and unpardonable injustice to lakhs of
people. Ordinarily, as it happens very often, it is the government ‘hat violates human
rights and it is the judiciary that gives protection. In the present case, we are sad to say,
that the government conveniently takes shelter under the orders of the Court absolving its

liability in such large-scale violation of human rights.

The concept of landless/homeless people and the concept of “encroachment”:

The concept of encroachment in so far as it relates to landless/homeless people should be
understood in the light of these people having the basic human rights which guarantees
them right to live with human dignity. Firstly, when we say landless/homeless peole,
we would like to point out that it applies to such people who are incapable of having
land or owning a home of their own. In other words, they are so_poor that they there are
unable to acquire land or a home. In such circumstances, it becomes the duty of the
government to see that they are provided homes or plots where they can build a home. It
does not mean that it should be a charity on the part of the government. It only means it is

the duty of the government to see that these persons are not thrown in the Arabian sea.
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Obviously, these persons cannot be accommodated on private land in as much as the
‘owner of the private land will not_permit such persons to occupy his land. It is therefore
necessary that such persons can only be accommodated on public land. Initially, such
homeless/landless people sguat where land is available. However, if the government
requires it for a public project, it is for the government to find a suitable alternative place
to accommodate them. When a person occupies public land because he is landless or
homeless, he cannot be described as an encroacher. Even if he is allowed to remain on
public land since he cannot occupy private land, such persons will have the right to
shelter and if the government fails to provide with such accommodation, the government

fails in its duty

The cut off date of January 1, 1995:

We have gone through the order of High Court and the order proceeds on the assumption
that those persons whose names are in the electoral rolls prior to 1% January, 1995 will be
entitled to alternate accommodation. Those whose names are not in the rolls or those who
have come after 1* January, 1995 into the city will have no right to accommodation or
right to alternative accomodation. It only means that the right to reside in any paii of
the country as provided in the Article 19 of the “onstitution of India will not be
applicable to persons who have come to the city after Ist January 1995. This also
means that the government can fix any arbitrary date and say that those persons after the
cut off date will have no right to live in the city. Further, it enforces a class division in
society without any justification or object of such division. The aim of the BEAG
petition is to reduce the pressure of population on the city’s land and services. However,
this pressure will go on increasing as the rich continue to annex more and more land for
development of their housing complexes. This acquisition is legal because it is paid for.
However, government policy eliminates the poor man who comes to the city after 1%

January 1995,

THE IMPACT OF THE DEMOLITIONS
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There was a hiatus during 1998 and part of 1999, even as the environmental group
‘BEAG kept pressing the court for action against the slums. The state government pleaded
helplessness in rehabilitating the pre-January 1995 slum families claiming it could not
locate appropriate alternative land. Finally, in August 1999, the state government
submitted to the High Court that it had located rehabilitation land in the talukas of Kalyan
and Ambarnath of about 125 hectares, and that it would suftfice for all the eligible
National Park slum-dwellers numbering around 33,000 families. The state government
however bowled a googly by insisting that the slum dwellers also contribute to their own
rehabilitation by paying Rs 10,000 per family as a precondition to the allotment of the
rehabilitation plots. This was accepted by the High Court, but the court reduced the
‘rehab fees’ to Rs 7,000. In its detailed order of July 1999, the court also laid down a
detailed rehab programme wherein slumdwellers were required to pay the rehab fees in
four installments starting from October 1999 with the final installment being paid in
February 2000 at the time of taking possession of the alternative ;lots. The court also
accepted the state government’s undertaking that the alternative sites in Kalyan and

Ambernath would be ready by February 2000.

This scheme was derisively rejected by the slum-dwellers. For the first time, the
government was enforcing a ‘rehab fees’ and most slumdwellers were outraged by what
they considered a double imposition — forced relocation as well as a monetary penalty for
being forced to relocate! Those who went to investigate the areas earmarked for
rehabilitation were also appalled by the fact that it was nearly 60 kms from their existing
locations and 15-20 kms from the nearest railhead. They also said the rural land was not
even worth what they were paying as ‘rehab fees’ and questioned why they should not
buy better land at closer locations Also, a large number could not afford the fees or
simply believed that in fact despite all these court orders they would never be evicted in
the near future. Politicians of both Congress and the BJP-Shiv Sena persuasion also

helped spread that false hope.

The result of this scenario was that by February 2000 hardly 450 eligible slum-

dwellers had paid their rehab fees. This also_gave a convenient excuse to the government
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from shirking the development at Kalyan and Ambamath sites on the plea that there was

" no point in spending valuable resources since the people were not interested in shlﬁmg to
these areas. Some groups like Nivara Hakk Suraksha Samiti working among the slum-
dwellers felt the institution of the rehab fees was a deliberate ploy by the state
government to exclude a< many as possible from the rehabilitation agenda. In monetary
terms, it did not make sense, as even if all the families paid the money, the govemment
would collet only Rs 21 crores. This is against the budgeted rehabiltation expenditure of
around Rs 125 crore for the developing the Kalyan and Ambernath sites. Strangely, the
cue was adopted by the Bombay High Court too, which subsequently linked its eviction

orders to the payment of these rehab fees.

The fate of the slum-dwellers was sealed when the matter came to be heard by the
Bombay I;I_i_gh Court bench of Chief Justice B N Singh and N J Pandya in March this
year. Through two orders dated March 2 and March 13, the court deprecated that the
slum-dwellers had not_paid their rehab fees. As a last opportunity it extended the date
from March 13 to March 21 to pay the amount, but laid down in no uncertain terms that
those who did not pay by that date would be evicted forthwith with no rights to
rehabilitation even if they had were part of the eligible 33,000, pre-1995 families. The
March 13 order also laid down detailed directions on the eviction process, including
sanction for a police battalion for the forest department, additional recruitment of forces
and directions to provide funds for construction of a wall. For_good mcasure, since the
court viewed the government’s intentions with suspicion, it proposed that a retired major
or colonel be recruited to supervise the demolition process. In a strange twist to the issue,
the court also ordered an investigation and contempt proceedings into the Nivara Hakk
Samiti”s office-bearer and practicing architect P K Das for daring to convene a meeting
to discuss! possibilities for rehabilitating the slum families on the periphery of the
National Park

Around 5,000 families took advantage of this extension and paid the initial Rs
5,000 as fixed by the court. For most of the families, it had not sunk in that the court had

linked their future to the payment of the rehab fees. Some simply did not have the money.
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The counters closed on March 21, and the month of April saw one of the largest

demolition and eviction process urban India has ever seen.

Bulldozers and eviction for Mumbai’s slumdwellers

Initially there was some resistance. On April 23, a large rally of slumdwellers convened
by the Nivara Hakk Suraksha Samiti, and addressed by among other former Prime
Minister V P Singh and Shabana Azmi, resolved to oppose the wholesale demolition
ordered by the courts. On Tuesday, April 25, as the bulldozers began their operations, Mr
V P Singh lead thousands of slum-dwellers to squat in front of the numerous earthmovers
and JCBs that were being used to mow down the peoples houses in the Malad division.
The resistance stopped the demolition operations on Tuesday, April 25 till the evening,
but once V P Singh and other leaders left the scene, the bulldozing operations were
started once again. There was heavy resistance on the following day April 26 too with
spontaneous stone-throwing as well as some organised resistance from the Shiv Sena
MLA Gajanand Kirtikar and units of the Nivara Hakk Suraksha Samiti. This lead to lathi

Ve

charge and arrests.

The police arrested over 40 activists including Gajanand Kirtikar and Gurbir
Singh. The BEAG raised the issue in the Bombay High Court on April26, claiming that
the police was not providing sufficient protection and that the demolitiqn drive was being
obstructed. The High Court in its wisdom ordered additional police fm:ce to be deployed
and banned the assembly and holding of rallies within a one kilometer radius around the

Park. Thereafter, the resistance cracked.

By the first week of June, the deputy conservator of forests, Shri A R Bharti, was
proudly declaring that around 49,000 structures had been demolished and cleared. The
drive, supported by the orders of the Bombay High Court, continued with brutal precision
with around a 1,000 homes being smashed under the treads of bulldozers everyday in

what has become the largest eviction operation Independent India has ever seen. The first
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phase of the demolition drive from April 20 to June 14 saw around four schools catering
to over _ 000 children being removed, and at least two persons dead - one Sasikala
Gupta who was killed when a bulldozer hit her in Savitribai Phule Nagar slum; and
Manilal Rathod of Ambedkar Nagar slums who seems to have died from heart seizure.
The initial resistance - people squatting in front of excavators and bulldozers and some
stone-throwing - was brutally crushed by huge contingents of police with cane charges,

tear gas and massive arrests.

On June 7, the police and forest department turned their attention to the eastern
side of the park at Mulund. Shankar Tekdi, Hanuman Pada and several other slums were
demolished in the teeth of opposition. Police entered the houses of those who resisted and
dragged them out beating them all the way. Women too were not spared. The record
shows that Kasturi, Nanda, Mangal, Jumrah and Chandrakala are some of the women
who have lodged complaints of being beaten up. Dudhiran Jogdand, Shesh Rao and
Mangal Borde were dragged to the Mulund Police station and faced continous police

beating till 6.00 in the evening.

From the depositions of the people, it is also apparent that in the post demolition
phase, the forest officials had set up gangs of casual workers who have been assigned the
task to drive the people out and burn and destroy the people’s belongings. That the
construction material and some belongings were burnt by the forest squads was admitted
by deputy conservator of forests, A R Bharti, who deposed before us on August 22, 2000.
Following each day of demolitions, the residents said the sky would be filled with a haze
of smoke as building material and the belongings of people would be thrown into the
pyres dotting the national park hillsides. It seems the demolition sites became 2 haven for
‘Kabadfwéllas' who flocked to pick up goods and building material cheap. The buming
of the peoples belongings and construction material is an illegal act, and cannot be
supported by any provision of law. Thé Forest Department also maintained no record of
the material and belongings that they confiscated as required under law. Some of it was

sold on the spot to these ‘Kabadiwallas’
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In their enthusiasm to ensure that people did not return to the old sites to take
refuge, the gangs of casual workers were ordered to hound and beat the people after the
demolition drive was over. For example, the depositions by NHSS and Khairunisa Mohd
of Azad Nagar slum show§ that on June 5, Environmental Day, when the people of Azad
Nagar at Kurar Village, Malad (East) had gone in a protest march to the Tehshildar’s
office. A large posse of casual workers entered the Azad Nagar slum area, near Kurar
Village in Malad division, and beat up and looted the belongings of all those who were
still squatting on the land. Amena Begum Ansari, 50, Ram Das Gupta (50), Ramguti
Erasad (35), Shaheeda Begum Mohd. Isa (60), Zahira Wahid Khan (28), Loisa Menezes
(60) and Mohd. Akbar Ansari (45) said they had been beaten up and their belongings

looted.

Second phase of demolitions and clearing operations after June 14:

The wide-scale of demolitions and brutality created a fear and terror in the minds of
slum-dwellers. It seems that a widespread opinion was created that if they paid the ‘rehab
fees’ of Rs 7,000 they would somehow be saved from the wrath of the state machinery.
However, attempts by groups of slum-dwellers to pay the ‘rehab’ fees were repeatedly
turned down by the government and the courts and the demolitions continued unabated.
A petition moved by the NHSS in the Supreme Court praying for more time to be given
to pay the ‘rehal “:es” and stay on demolition was thrown out by the Supreme Court in
May. Government officials openly exulted since now the only task before them was the
resettlement of just 5,000 odd families who managed to pay the rehab fees of Rs 5,000
before the. court deadline expired on March 22. Even for these 5,000 families who paid

this fee and whose houses were not demolished, no alternative was offered.

Finally, when the High Court reviewed the demolition work on June 14, the
government under pressure from a large number of slum-dweller representations, moved
aL'\ application pleading for suspension of demolition operations during the period of the
monsoons. The government said it had adopted a policy measure suspending slum

|
demolit. s till September 30, and the same concession should be extended to the
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national park slums. This was accepted by the court, which ordered that an additional two
weeks time sﬁoul&be gwen ——E& tTlC yajr;e;;;f R—s";,-OOO ‘rehab fees’. The condition
attached was that those who were paying at this stage would have no protection against
demolition{; nor could they rebuild their houses in case they had been demolished.

It was in terms of this order, that the Forest Department continued to evi:t and
hound the slum-dwellers even after having demolished their houses earlier. One of the
most brutal eviction and police action was carried out at Bhimnagar slums on July23 and
24 at Damopada, in Kandivili division, which had been demolished earlier in April and
May. The record shows that at least two persons died and scores injured in this round of
clearing and demolition operations. The deposition of Mahadevi Sidappa Konhale
revealed that Chandappa Siddappa Konhale, aged 35, succumbed to his injuries on July
25 in the Bhagwati Hospital, Borivali. These injuries on the head and other parts of his
body were sustained through lathi blows and physical beatings by the police during
demolition operations in the Bhimnagar basti on July 23, 2000. Her deposition is

corroborated by several other local residents of Bhim Nagar and Hanuman Nagar.

Another victim of the demolition has been Asha Sunil Pandey, who died on July 22
after she had a stroke during the demolitions on Saturday, July 22 in Bhimnagar slums.
She was rushed to the Bhagwati Hospital but could not be saved. She leaves behind three
small children — Darshana, Ranjit and Ravi — with only her 75-year old mother

KesharamFa.iMakmmm,ﬁ:nd.for.Ihem

_Bhir*magar is a large basti of over 5,000 households claimed by the forest
department to be on the land of the Sanjay Gandhi National Park. It borders the Otis
Company and the Mahindra-and Mahindra factory. The old slum is supposedly protected
by the 1995 policy of the Maharashtra Government. The state govemnment has also
passed an‘! order — vide a notification of the Housing Department dated June 5, 2000
signed by Deputy Secretary R D Salvi — staying demolitions till September 30, 2000. But
the forestirdepartment, armed with a High Court order, claims that a majority of the
peoﬁle had_not paid the ‘rehab’ fees of Rs 7,000 and were thus not eligible for
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protection. The slum was demolished in the months of April and May this year, after
which a majority of the people paid the Rs 7,000 fixed by the High Court. However, no
alter#zative rehab sites have been given to the people as yet, and most Bhimnagar families
were forced to eke out a living at the old demolished sites.

It is in this background that the forest department officials, accompanied by a
comPany ?f policemen of the Samata Nagar Police Station came for a second round of
dem;blitions on Saturday, July 22 at around noon. Pleadings by the people that the
government itself had passed an order stating that demolitions would be suspended
duri1:1g the monsoon fell on deaf ears. Thereafter there was stiff resistance to the
demolition operation. The police fired two rounds in the air and tear - gas was freely used.
In retaliation, several local boys used the rubble on the site to throw missiles at the police.
Ultimately, the_police and the forest department officials together with the demolition
labour beét a retreat ithout being able to conduct much demolition. It was in this melee

and chaos that Asha Pandey had a stroke and died, residents reported.

Almost acting in revenge, the police and forest department wrecked havoc on the
residents of the basti the next day — Sunday, July 23. The local police reinforced by a
battalion of the SRP first surrounded the basti at about 11.00 am. In order not to alert the
pec  they left their vehicles near the highway and entered the area through the
compound of the neighbouring Mahindra & Mahindra company. After cordoning off the
slum, the forest department officials entered the basti demolishing existing houses and
beaﬁng all those they could lay their hands on. The brutality of the police was
unprecedented. Old women, small children and even pleading women were not spared the
lathii blow - Simultaneously, the demolition workers along with two bulldozers pushed
the ﬁeoples household goods and building material into neat mounds and set them on fire
so that they could not build again. The burning and beating operation continued till 6.00
pm ;n the evening. Around 45 people were arrested including the local corporator Ms
Bhaxiti Pandagale. Atleast a dozen people suffered broken limbs and were admitted in
seridlus condtion to the local municipal hospital at Borivali. Many were turned away

despite serious injuries, residents complained.
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Some case studies. Namd - » Laxman Bhogte, aged 45, and a casual construction
worker, had paid his rehab fees vide receipt No 0034131 on 22-03-2000, and hence his
house was ﬂ.ot deuolished. Yet the police surrounded his house suspecting some people
were hiding inside and banged the door demanding it be opened. When Bhogte opened
the door, over a dozen policemen entered the house, surr. aded him and thrashed him
mercilessly with lathis till he fainted. His wife Urmilla was also beaten when she tried to
plead to stop the Jathi blows. A young boy of the neighbouring Khanna family — Anil
Kumar Khanna — tried to give water to the fainted Bhogte, and was also given a thrashing
for his pains. His little sister Rinki, who was hiding inside the house, was flung outside
by the policemen. As evidence, Bhogte has showed the buckle of one of the policeman
which had dropped inside his house during the beating operations. The buckle read:
‘Constable Vikas Sawant — No0.32085 — Mumbai Police’.

Mrs Kamala Khanna, age 35 years, a neighbour of Namdeo Bhogte. She and her
husband Ram Kumar Khanna hail from Rohtak, in Haryana, and her husband ekes out a
living by working as a bootpolish hand on Borivali Station. When interviewed soon after
the demolition drive by IPHRC volunteers, Mrs Khanna was lying in a cot and could not
get up because of serious injuries on her arm, back and hands sustained from police
beating. One of her fingers was swollen and seemed to be fractured. She said the
Bhagwati Hospital at Borivali refused to admit her and gave her a couple of painkillers
and told her to go. She said there were no women police and she was surrounded by 10-

12 SRP jawans and beaten black and blue without reason.

We were shown a small girl child of one-and-a-half years age — Asik — who was
brought b?r her father Omprakash Pandey. The small Asik had a fresh head injury and
was crying uncontrollably. The father said his other daughter Urmilla, age 13 years, was
trying to flee with the little child when a lathi blow struck little Asik. Bulbai Yede, an old
lady of 75, was beaten despite pleading on her knees for mercy, while a 85 year old
infirm man — Tukaram Magde — who could barely speak indicated with gestures that he

was dragged, kicked on the groin and fisticuffed when he refused to leave his house.
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Anusaya khram Ransipi, aged S5, said on July 23 she was beaten, thrown out of the
house, and ironically her own stock of kerosene was used to burn her house down!
Incidentally, Anusaya and her neighbours say they live in a private plot belonging to the

Gorakshak Mandal which does not belong to the Sanjay Gandhi National Park.

Gangubai Arjun Patekar showed us the empty teargas cannister which landed
inside her house and burnt part of her belongings. She along with all her children are still
suffering from the after-effects of concentrated inhalation of tear gas. The team also met
Masah Sitaram Shirsat, aged 26, with several head injuries who was beaten within inches
ol cath. He in fact fainted and many people in the basti assumed he had died. Abdul
Razak and his 13 year-old daughter Asha were beaten inside their house. They were
having their lunch and the food was scattered. One Sitaram Punaji Mahdev, a municipal
worker in the maintenance department at the BMC’s ‘B’ ward, showed the team his
identity card. “Even this did not work with the police who rained blows on me,” he said

in his deposition.

Our first hand observations of the clearing operation on August 5:

The site on which Bhimnagar once existed is today a hillside of smoking rubble. People
crouch under makeshift plastic tents and can be seen trying to scavenge whatever they
can of their belongings from amidst the ruins of what was once their homes. We visited
the area to record peoples depositions on Saturday, August 5. While we were conducting
the hearing in the Buddha Mandir, at about 12 noon a demolition squad made its
appearance along with one large earth mover and a couple of bulldozers. They moved
into what remained of the Bhim Nagar slums. In front of our very eyes, casual workers
carrying cans of kerosene set fire to the broken homes and few personal objects of the
slum dwellers. Many of the slum dwellers pleaded that they were taking temporary refuge
since their houses had already been demolished, and they had nowhere to go. These pleas
fell on deaf ears. We were so moved by the plight of the people that we stopped our
hearing and climbed up the hill.
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We asked the assistant conservator of forests, Mr R P Pakade, who was heading the
demolition operations, why the bulldozing and burning of the peoples hcuses and
belongings was going on? We asked him why the belo..sings were not physically taken
away and later returned to the people? Instead Mr Pakade told us we were not allowed to
bring a morcha to the National Park. and continued the burning operations. We felt totally
helpless, and to register our protest, our brother judge Rajinder Sacher took some water

and doused one such fire which was blazing all over the hillside.

“It was like a war of attrition by the government against its own people. Even the

British were not so cruel,” one resident told us.
Deaths as a direct or indirect consequence of the demolitions

The abject negligence and brutality of the demolition squads of the Forest Departrent
was exempliﬁed when they bulldozed the hutment in which Swaminath and Shashikala
Gupta were staying as tenants in the slum colony Savitribai Phule Nagar, at Appapada,
Malad (East). On April 24, 2000 while Swaminath was away at work, the demolition
squad began razing hutments. Even as Sasikala Gupta desperately put her belongings
together to salvage what she could, the bulldozers teeth hit her inside her house. She also
sustained injuries with the debris falling on her. Sashikala was rushed to a doctor and
later to S K Patil Hospital in Malad with multiple injuries, but the doctors in the hospital
advised she should be moved to the larger KEM Hospital at Parel. However, she
succumbed to her injuries on April 29. Here we see an instance of the total disregard of
the demolition squads, supervised by the Deputy Conservator of Forests A R Bharti, who
went about mowing down the hutments without regard for life or property. In this case,
they had not even bothered to check whether the hutments were cleared of their

inhabitants before felling them.

In a notarised affidavit filed by Mr Swaminath Gupta before the Collector
(Mumbai — Suburban), Mr C S Sangeetiao, on September 29, Mr Gupta has said that he

worked in an industrial unit manufacturing socks. He said he had gone to work on April
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26, but during his absence at about 12 noon on that day his house was demolished and his
wife Shashikala was hit by a bulldozer while she was collecting her belongings inside the
hut. Gupta said that his wife was covered with blood and took shelter in hig sister’s house
nearby. Since he came orly at 10pm, he could only take her to the doctor the next day.
She had multiple injuries on the back and was subsequently admitted to S K Hosyita_] and
later shifted to KEM Hospital on April 28 at 5.30 pm. She died on April 29 at 3.00pm

and was cremated the next day.

‘The post-mortem report showed conducted by KEM Hospital said: “The deceased
was admitted unconscious following head injuries due to fall of bamboo sticks.” The
report admitted congestion in brain and haemerroage in the brain stem too. On the spinal
cord, the report said there was “Linear fracture seen at C6-C7 level with contusion and
compression of cord.” The probable cause of death was given as: “Traumatic fracture
of spine at C6- C7 level with cord compression associated with brain stem

haemorrage.”

The post-mortem report is a clear indictment that the demolition squad were
directly responsible for Shashikala’s death. The total callousness of the demolition
authorities was exhibited by the fact that even after Shashikala lay in a helpless state, they
did not bother to lend a hand to carry her to the hospital. That task was performed by the
husband when he cam home at 10pm that day. Neither was any FIR filed by the
Dhindoshi Police, who were on the site assisting the demolitions, against the forest
officials responsible for the negligence. Shashikala’s death has become a medico-legal

issue only after the KEM Hospital recorded the damning post-mortem report.

In another case in Damu Nagar, at Kandivili East, Chandrakant Siddappa Konale,
was brutally assaulted on July 23, 2000 by policemen accompanying the demolition
squad afier they broke open the door of his house in Patel Chawl. Chandrakant Konale
was subsequently admitted to Bhagvati Hospital in Borivali, and he succumbed to his
injuries on July 25. Chandrakant was working in a marriage hall and was the only

breadwinner of the family.



In the affidavit filed bv Mrs Mahadevi Siddappa Konale, the mother of
Chandrakant, betore the Collector — Suburban C S Sangeetrao on September 29, a copy
which 1s provided to us. it is stated that Chandrakant was 22 years old, recently married
and the eldest among four children. The Konale family had paid the ‘rehab’ fees of Rs
7.000 and hence their house in Patel Chawl in Damu Nagar, was not slated for
demolition. Mrs Konale further said that during the demolition operations in Damu
Nagar, the police entered the chawl and began beating the neighbour Saiba, and in a state
of fright, the entire Konale family locked themselves up in their room. However, the
policemen broke open the door and beat Chandrakant and her other son Malesh with lathi
blows. Chandrakant was fisted and kicked in the stomach too. Chandrakant lay in pain
the whole day on July 25, but when it became unbearable, Mrs Konale’s other son
Suresh, carried Chandrakant to the Bhagwati Hospital on July 25 at 10 am. However, by -

4.00 pm the same dav Chandrakant had been declared dead.

Mrs Mahadevi Konale has said in her affidavit that her son died due to the
excessive beating of the police and that the latter tried to cover their tracks ensuring no
post-mortem was carried out. On the date of first hearing by the Collector — Suburban on
August -, 2000 the Nivara Hakk Suraksha Samiti (NHSS) office-bearers who were
present complained that the police could not produce the post-mortem report when
pressed for by the Collector. However, they produced a station diary which recoded that
Chandrakant Konhale had died of ‘excessive consumption of alcohol’. Mr Sangeetrao
then asked the officers to produce the post-mortem report. On the second date of hearing
at the Coll_ector’s office on September 30, Mrs Konhale appeared personally and while
filing her affidavit stated that despite several requests from her side the Bhagwati
Hospital had refused to furnish her a copy of the affidavit. While it is evident that the
police is trying to cover its tracks,.tile evidence on record points to Chandrakant having

been killed due to excessive beating on the stomach and head by the police.

Another fatality in the saine area of Damu Nagar and on the same day of July 23

was that of a 30-ycar old lady Asha Sunil Pandey, who suffered from a stroke during the
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demolition and police actior on the hutment colonies on that day. The police statement
before the Collector has claimed that Asha Pandey suftered a fatal heart attack and there
was no relation to the demolition operations. However, statements of neighbours and by
Asha Pandey’s mother Kesarbai Rambhau Makrand reveal that Asha Pandey fell
unconscious and suffered a stroke during the peak of the demolition operations during

which lathi assaults and tear-gassing of the basti was being conducted.

According to the affidavit of Mrs Kesarbai Rambhau Makrand, dated September
28, 2000 filed on September 29, 2000 before the Collector, Mr C S Sangeetrao, (a copy
which is furnished to us) Asha Pandey and her husband Sunil Bhagwan Pandey were
residing in the Samarth Chawl, Damu Nagar, Kandivili since 30 years along with Mrs
Makrand. The couple had three children between 6 and 15 years of age. Their hcuses had
been demolished in the May 2000 drive, but since they had nowhere to go they continued
to reside under make-shift plastic sheets on the same site. Mrs Makrand further deposed
that on Inly 23%, 2000 the demolitions quads along with heavy police bundobust
reappeared and again began demolition operations, There were protests of the people as
many of them had paid the ‘rehab’ fees of Rs 7,000 by then. This was met by policemen
geing on the rampage with lathi-charge and bursting of teargas sheils. Mrs Makrand said
they set many structures on fire and assaulted_people. Her own structure too was set on

fire and most of her belongings were destroyed.

In her affidavit, Mrs Makrand has said her daughter Asha fell unconscious after
tear-gas fumes enveloped the area.- However;-police prevented her from rushing the
injured daughter to hospital. She finally carried her at in an auto-rickshaw at 5.30 pm to
Saibaba héspital at Kandivili but Asha Pandey was declared dead before admission. Her
Post-Mortem was conducted at Cooper Hospital at Andheri West. However, despite two
written applications, Mrs Makrand has not been supplied a copy of the Post-Mortem

report till September 30, she has alleged.

The brutality and the havoc wrought by the demolitions created such an uproar.

that even the state government was forced to take note of it. On August 7, when the chief
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minister Vilasrao Deshmukh was informed of the widespread burnings and destruction of
peoples properties and the numerous deaths by a delegation lead by Mr V P Singh, he
ordered an enquiry against A R Bharti, deputy conservator of forests, who was dircctly
supervising the demolition operations. The inquiry is currently being conducted by Mr C

S Sangeetrao, Collector-Mumbai Suburban.

lll-defined boundaries:

From the evidence before it is clear that the Forest Department did not take
adequate care to define clearly the boundaries of the National Park. There 1s also
sufficient evidence to show that some of the demolitions have been without jurisdiction
and of houses which are outside the boundaries of the Park. The state_government’s
revenue department has not aiso conducted joint survey to ensure that the Forest
Department’s boundary claims are correct. The Bombay High Court too has not taken
sufficient care to ensure that slums outside the park are not demolished. For instance, in a
letter dt. June 22, 2000, addressed to Mr Satish Tripathi, Secretary-Forests, Government
of Maharashtra, former Prime Minister V P Singh pointed out that the forest officials had
demokshed the houses of Shrimati Sajrabai Pagare and 11 other persons living in
Suryodaya Vikas Chawl, Kandivili East, on the border of the National Park. Earlier,
when the residents had written to the Forest Department, inquiring about the location of
their houses, in a letter ( Sr No 1548 dt.13-08-1998) addressed to Shrimati Pagare and 11
others of Suryodaya Vikas Chawl, Shri A R Bharti, deputy conservator of forests, had
stated that that the chawl and their residerces fall outside the boundaries of the park. A
copy of Mr Bharti’s letter has been produced before us. The houses of these persons have

not been restored despite their representations.

As the litigation on the National Park issues unfolded, the Bombay High Court
was forced to recognise that the boundaries were a contentious issue and some stay orders
were obtained. For instance, in the case of Carvalho Nagar slums, in the eastern Thane
side of the Park, some 300 huts were demolished in the initial demolition drive in April.
However, evidence produced by residents of Carvalho Nagar in a writ petition made out a

prima fucie casc that they were outside the Park, and demolitions have been stayed so far.
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demolition and police actior on the hutment colonies on that day. The police statement
before the Collector has claimed that Asha Pandey suffered a fatal heart attack and there
was no relation to the demolition operations. However, statements of neighbours and by
Asha Pandey’s mother Kesarbai Rambhau Makrand reveal that Asha Pandey fell
unconscious and suffered a stroke during the peak of the demolition operations during

which lathi assaults and tear-gassing of the basti was being conducted.

According to the affidavit of Mrs Kesarbai Rambhau Makrand, dated September
28, 2000 filed on September 29, 2000 before the Collector, Mr C S Sangeetrao, (a copy
which is furnished to us) Asha Pandey and her husband Sunil Bhagwan Pandey were
residing in the Samarth Chawl, Damu Nagar, Kandivili since 30 years along with Mrs
Makrand. The couple had three children between 6 and 15 years of age. Their houses had
been demolished in the May 2000 drive, but since they had nowhere to go they continued
to reside under make-shift plastic sheets on the same site. Mrs Makrand further deposed
that on July 23" 2000 the demolitions quads along with heavy police bundobust
reappeared and again began demolition operations, There were protests of the people as
many of them had paid the ‘rehab’ fees of Rs 7,000 by then. This was met by policemen
going on the rampage with lathi-charge and bursting of teargas sheils. Mrs Makrand said
they set many structures cn fire and assaulted people. Her own structure too was set on

fire and most of her belongings were destroyed.

In her affidavii, Mrs Makrand has said her daughter Asha fell unconscious after
tear-gas fumes enveloped the area:: However,- police prevented her from rushing the
injured daughter to hospital. She finally carried her at in an auto-rickshaw at 5.30 pm to
Saibaba h(')spital at Kandivili but Asha Pandey was declared dead before admission. Her
Post-Mortem was conducted at Cooper Hospital at Andheri West. However, despite two
written applications, Mrs Makrand has not been supplied a copy of the Post-Mortem

report till September 30, she has alleged.

The brutality and the havoc wrought by the demolitions created such an uproar.

that even the state government was forced to take note of it. On August 7, when the chiet
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even today and have never faced any demolitions. On the Borivali side of the park.
several babas and ashrams are_prospering in the Kanheri caves area, and are said to be
patronised by the local BJP MLA. Reports by journalists indicate that many of these
godmen have air-conditioned apartments and mobile phones at their disposal. No notices
of eviction or any demolition operations have been conducted against these ashrams. Nor

has this issue been pressed in court by the BEAG.

The Question of Rehabilitation:

The order of July 1999 proceeds to outline steps for the rehabilitation of the eligible slum
dwellers outside the city. It requires an injtial contribution of Rs. 7000/- by the slum
dwellers to be eligible for the alternate place. The alternative areas are in far away places
like Ambernath and Kalyan. This has been found to be not acceptable both by the slum
dwellers and the local inhabitants at Kalyan. We visited some of the proposed alternative
sites at Khoni and Shirdon villages, in Kalyan taluka, on August 30 (See annexture). The
focal tehehildar and other government officials showed us a hillock on whick some
leveling work had been carried out. They also said the PWD Department had recently
carried out some work for 8 to 10 days and then it was suspended because of the
resistance of the local people. The tehshildar also said that the PWD Department had
pleaded it had no funds and could not continue the work unless the state government
sanctioned additional funds. The local residents of Khoni village, located close to the
rehabilitation site, also made it clear that they were opposed to the rehabilitation of slum
dwellers at these sites as they are the common grazing grounds of the village. They were
also concerned aboui the change in the demography of the local population, as well as the
negative social and cultural impact the movement of such large numbers would have on

the area.

As far as we could see, there was no serious rchabilitation work taking place in these
sites. This is a violation of the Bombay High Court order of May 7, 1997 which laid out
that the rchabilitation process of the eligible slum dweilers should be completed before
beginning the demolition cperations. Further, rehabilitation does not mean providing

displaced people with 15°-by-10" plots as envisaged in the High Court order.
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Rehabilitation must mean the creation of an alternative fiome, ie. as it existed before the

demoliticn took place and with all the necessary civic amenities and infrastructure. We

have observed the displacement ot a large number of people on account of developmental

projects, including the eviction during the construction of the Sardar Sarovar Dam on the

Narmada River. In all these cases people have just been dumped on small patches of land

and left to fend for themselves. This is not rehabilitation.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

1.

We recommend that as a first step all demolitions shoull be stopped forthwith,
especially since no alternative accomodation has been yet prlovided to those whose
houses have been so far demolished.

All rehabilitation must be done with the consent of the slum dwellers. For the
immediate, transit accomodation with all civic amenities and infrastructure be
provided to those whose houses have been demolished till the final-relocation sites
«re developed.

The government reconsider granting rehabilitation sites on the periphery of the Park
along wasted quarries and non-forested lands, and compensate the loss of National
Park land by adding a similar acreage to the north of the Park from the Vasai Division
lrest land. This proposal can be pressed with the environment ministry and the
Rombay High Court as well.

The Court should reconsider its orders in light of the fact that when the orders were
nassed the slum dwellers were not a party of the said order and that the order affects
the lives of nearly 4.5 lakh people.

We ur%e upon the government to include the rights of slum dwellers.as a-part of the -
Right to Shelter as mandated in Article 21 of the Constitution of India and also in
international law

The forest and police officials who have transgressed their powers and have carried
out burning and other illegal operations should be meted out exemplary punishment.
Those resbonsible for the deaths of Shashikala Gupta and three others should be
identified, dismissed from service and prosecuted. The government should award

adequate compensation to their families.
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